
Pensions Committee
Date: Monday, 16 November 2015
Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Pat Phillips
Tel: 0151 691 8488
e-mail: patphillips@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are asked to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non pecuniary interests, in connection with any item(s) 
on the agenda and state the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 14 
September, 2015 and 28 September, 2015.

3. LGPS UPDATE (Pages 9 - 14)

4. THE PENSIONS REGULATOR BREACHES POLICY (Pages 15 - 36)

5. POOLING CONSULTATION (Pages 37 - 42)

6. INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE (Pages 43 - 46)

7. GOVERNANCE POLICY (Pages 47 - 66)

8. RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT AND CLIMATE RISK (Pages 67 - 76)

9. PROPERTY: APPOINTMENT OF STRATEGIC ADVISOR 

Report to follow.



10. MONITORING - TRAINING, GIFTS & HOSPITALITY RETURNS 
(Pages 77 - 92)

11. AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES (Pages 93 - 96)

12. IMWP MINUTES (Pages 97 - 102)

13. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC 

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion.

14. IMWP MINUTES EXEMPT APPENDICES (Pages 103 - 118)

15. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 



PENSIONS COMMITTEE
Monday, 14 September 2015

Present: Councillor P Doughty (Chair)

Councillors AR McLachlan
G Davies
AER Jones
B Kenny
A Leech (deputy for 
Councillor T Johnson)

G Watt
K Hodson
C Povall
P Cleary

J Fulham, St Helens Council

Apologies Councillors T Johnson
N Crofts (Liverpool City Council)
W Weightman (Knowsley Council)
P Lappin (Sefton Council)

15 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked if they had any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in 
connection with any application on the agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

Councillor Paul Doughty declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of his wife being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor George Davies declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of his wife being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor John Fulham declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of being a member of 
Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor Geoffrey Watt declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of a relative being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

16 MINUTES 

Resolved – That the accuracy of the Minutes of the Pensions Committee held 
on 22 June, 2015 be approved as a correct record.

17 AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT 

Fiona Blatcher, Associate Director and Heather Green, Senior Manager, Grant 
Thornton attended the meeting and outlined the report to the Committee. It was 
reported that the Audit was now substantially completed and outstanding work in the 
areas identified in page 5 of the report was being finalised. Key issues arising from 
the audit were outlined and overall a positive outcome from the audit of the accounts 
was expressed.



Resolved – That the report be noted.

18 PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 2014/15 

Members of the Committee considered a report of the Acting Section 151 Officer that 
presented Members with the audited statement of accounts of Merseyside Pension 
Fund for 2014/15 and responded to the Audit Findings Report from Grant Thornton.

Subject to outstanding work, Grant Thornton had indicated there would be an 
unqualified opinion and there were no material adjustments and no 
recommendations.

Grant Thornton’s report expressed a positive outcome from their audit of the 
accounts and referred to the outcome, in the context of MPF Officers working on a 
number of key projects throughout the year, as a significant achievement.

Members of the Committee recorded their thanks to the officers for a very successful 
year for the Fund and for the hard work undertaken towards the report.

Resolved – That;
 

1. the audited Statement of Accounts for 2014/15, be submitted to the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee.

2 any comments received by the Chair be forwarded to the meeting of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee on Tuesday 22 September, 
2015.

19 DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources of this report 
provided Members with the draft Annual Report of Merseyside Pension Fund for 
2014/15. A copy of the draft Annual Report was circulated to Members at the 
meeting.

Councillor Pat Cleary commented that as the Report and Accounts 2014/15 had just 
been circulated it was not possible for Members to comment in such a short time. 
The Chair agreed to receive any comments and to convey them to the next meeting 
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to be held on Tuesday 22 September, 
2015.

Resolved – That:

1. the draft Report and Accounts 2014/15 be submitted to the next meeting 
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to be held on Tuesday 22 
September, 2015.

2. Members comments received by the Chair be forwarded to the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee.

20 LGPS UPDATE 



A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources informed Members 
of a number of policies announced in the 2015 Summer Budget and the associated 
impact on the LGPS and its members.

It also raised awareness that the Government had recently issued consultations on 
the potential reform of pension tax relief and a cap on public sector staff exit 
payments.

The report also included a legal opinion obtained by the Local Government 
Association in relation to the provision of Council funded pensions to Elected 
Members.

The LGA response to the HMT Consultation on the Proposed Cap on Public Exit 
Payments was attached as an appendix to the report.

Yvonne Caddock, Principal Pension Officer, outlined the report to members and 
highlighted the main policies with potential impacts for the LGPS.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

21 GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON PENSIONS TAXATION 

Members considered a report of the Strategic Director Transformation and 
Resources that informed Members of the government’s consultation on reforming 
pension tax relief and requested approval to submit the draft response prepared on 
behalf of Wirral Borough Council to HM Treasury.

The Consultation Response on Tax Relief and Thoughts from around the Industry 
were attached as appendices to the report.

Councillor John Fulham raised members’ concern about the possible disincentive to 
save.

Resolved – That Peter Wallach, Head of the Pension Fund, reflect on the draft 
response in the light of comments received by members of the Pension Fund 
and amends accordingly and, subject the Chair’s agreement, the draft 
response for submission to H M Treasury be recommended for approval.

22 TERMINATION POLICY 

Members of the Pension Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director 
Transformation and Resources. It was reported that the Funding Strategy Statement 
set out the basis for valuing assets and liabilities in the event of an employer 
terminating its participation in the Fund. The policy was designed to be equitable to 
both the exiting employer and the continuing employers within the Fund.  

Mercer had provided advice to the Administering Authority following recent changes 
in the LGPS Regulations governing the options and treatment available to 
Administering Authorities either at termination, or prior to an expected termination at 
some point in the future. Mercer’s advice was contained within Appendix 1 of the 
report.



The main changes related to how a termination assessment could be triggered and 
the repayment plan be set by the Administering Authority. This had implications for 
the basis on which the termination value was assessed.

It was reported that the changes to policy would be incorporated in the next review of 
the Funding Strategy Statement.

Resolved – That the changes to the termination policy with regard to:

i. repayment plans
ii. the margin for adverse demographic risk factors

be approved.

23 LGE FUNDAMENTAL TRAINING 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources recommended the 
Committee to approve participation by Members in the LGPS Trustee Training 
‘Fundamentals XlV’ organised by the Local Government Pensions Committee.

Peter Wallach, Head of the Pensions Fund, informed the Committee that this training 
was targeted at new members but was also appropriate as a refresher for existing 
members. The Chair of the Committee encouraged new members to attend and 
commented that it would be possible to ‘mix and match’ course dates.

Resolved – That;

1. attendance by Members on the ‘Fundamentals training’ be approved.

2. Members wishing to take advantage of this opportunity notify the Head 
of Pension Fund to enable the necessary registration and administration to be 
undertaken.

24 ANNUAL EMPLOYERS CONFERENCE 

A report of the Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources informed 
Members of the arrangements for the annual Employers’ Conference to be held at 
Aintree Racecourse on Thursday 26 November 2015.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

25 LAPFF ANNUAL CONFERENCE 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources recommended that 
the Committee approve attendance by the Chair and party spokespersons at the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) Annual Conference, organised by 
PIRC, to be held in Bournemouth from 2 to 4 December 2015.

Resolved – That attendance at the LAPFF conference by the Chair and party 
spokepersons be approved.



26 ELECTED MEMBER EDUCATIONAL EVENT 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources recommended that 
the Pensions Committee consider attendance by Members at the fourth 330 
Consulting Elected Member Educational Event (EMEE) at the Tower of London in 
London on Wednesday 7 October 2015.

The event was designed for those members of Pensions Committees who were 
relatively new to their roles, but it was also open to other, more experienced, 
Committee members who would like a refresher on some key investment concepts 
and issues.

Resolved - That attendance at the 330 Consulting Elected Member Educational 
Event (EMEE) at the Tower of London in London on Wednesday 7 October 2015 
by any Member of the Pensions Committee who wishes to attend be approved.

27 BOND REVIEWS 

Members of the Pension Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director 
Transformation and Resources that informed members on the annual review of 
potential unfunded liabilities for admission bodies. This work had been undertaken by 
Mercer, the Fund Actuary, following an actuarial review as at 31 March 2015.

The Appendix to the report set out the details of the annual review and contained 
exempt information. This was by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information).

Yvonne Caddock, Principal Pension Officer, outlined the report and informed the 
Committee that the Actuary had calculated the potential unfunded liabilities as 
follows:

i. the cost of providing immediate benefits to those members age 55 or over in 
the year 1 April  2015  to 31 March 2016
ii. less, 50% of the potential savings that may materialise in respect of members 
under age 55 with deferred benefits.
iii. plus the existing surplus or deficit at 31 March 2015.

It was noted that in view of the current financial pressures faced by employers, which 
would be exacerbated next April by the loss of the employer’s contracted out rebate, 
many admission bodies would find it difficult to secure the increased indemnities.  

If the Fund sought to increase the bond levels inline with the current calculations, a 
number of employers would be forced into closure on the basis of a speculative 
event.

Resolved – That, having regard to the current financial pressures facing 
employers, that the bond requirements for Community Admission Bodies are 
not increased but are retained at the current 2013 levels.

28 IMWP MINUTES 19 JUNE 2015 



A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources provided Members 
with the minutes of the Investment Monitoring Working Party (IMWP) held on 19 June 
2015.

The appendix to the report, the minutes of the IMWP on 19 June 2015, contained 
exempt information. This was by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information).

Resolved – That the minutes of the IMWP held on 19 June, 2015 be approved.

29 GRWP MINUTES 30 JUNE 2015 

A report of the Strategic Director Transformation and Resources provided members 
with the minutes of the Governance & Risk Working Party (GRWP) held 30 June 
2015.

An exempt report on the agenda, the minutes of the GRWP on 30 June 2015, 
contained exempt information. This was by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
that information).

Resolved – That the minutes of the GRWP held on 30 June, 2015 be approved.

30 EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

Resolved – That in accordance with section 100 (A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following items of business, on the grounds that it involved the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined by relevant paragraphs of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act. The public interest test had been 
applied and favoured exclusion.

31 BOND REVIEWS 

The appendix to the report on Bond reviews was exempt by virtue of paragraph 3.

32 EXEMPT IMWP MINUTES 19 JUNE 2015 

The appendix to the report on the IMWP Minutes 19 June, 2015 was exempt by 
virtue of paragraph 3.

33 EXEMPT GRWP MINUTES 30 JUNE, 2015 

The appendix to the report on the GWMP Minutes 30 June, 2015 was exempt by 
virtue of paragraph 3.



PENSIONS COMMITTEE
Monday, 28 September 2015

Present: Councillor P Doughty (Chair)

Councillors AR McLachlan
G Davies
AER Jones
G Watt
J Hale ( deputy for 
Cllr Kathy Hodson)

C Povall
P Cleary

P Lappin (Sefton Council)

Apologies Councillors T Johnson
B Kenny
K Hodson

34 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked if they had any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in 
connection with any application on the agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

Councillor Paul Doughty declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of his wife being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor Paulette Lappin declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of being a member 
of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor Geoffrey Watt declared a pecuniary interest by virtue of a relative being a 
member of Merseyside Pension Fund.

35 ANNUAL REPORT AND STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2014/15 - MERSEYSIDE 
PENSION FUND 

Further to minute 19 Pensions Committee 14/09/2105 Members of the Pension 
Committee considered a report of the Acting Section 151 Officer that presented 
Members with the audited statement of accounts of Merseyside Pension Fund for 
2014/15 and responded to the Audit Findings Report from Grant Thornton. On the 
advice of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services the Pension Committee had 
reconvened to consider the report given that Members had not had sufficient time to 
consider the accounts at the previous meeting.

The report showed that, subject to outstanding work, Grant Thornton had indicated 
there would be an unqualified opinion; there were no material adjustments and no 
recommendations.



Grant Thornton’s report expressed a positive outcome from their audit of the 
accounts and referred to the outcome, in the context of MPF Officers working on a 
number of key projects throughout the year, as a significant achievement.

A draft Letter of Representation on behalf of the Committee which gave assurances 
to the Auditor on various aspects relating to the Pension Fund was included at 
appendix 1 of the report.

Members discussed the concern around the subject of investment in carbon fuels 
and the potential fall in value. Peter Wallach, Head of the Pension Fund noted that 
this was being addressed through the Pension Forum following a recent article in the 
Guardian. He informed the Committee that the Forum had been engaging with large 
companies such as Shell and would be undertaking further work. The Chair of the 
Committee also informed Members that LAPF had undertaken a lot of work in this 
area and that he would be happy to forward this to members. Members suggested 
that this subject could be a specific item for the next meeting of the Pensions 
Committee.

RESOLVED – That;

1 the audited Statement of Accounts for 2014/15 be approved.

2 the Letter of Representation submitted at appendix 1 of the report be 
approved.

3 these recommendations be referred to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

4 the publication of the draft Annual Report be approved.



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSION COMMITTEE

16 NOVEMBER 2015
SUBJECT: LGPS UPDATE

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF 
TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report informs Members of the challenges faced by the Administration 

Section in issuing the 2014/15 Scheme year’s Annual Benefit Statements to 
all active members, in compliance with statutory time limits, as prescribed 
under section 14 of the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

1.2 It also raises awareness of the Government’s response to the proposal to cap 
the cost of Public Sector Exit Payments at £95,000 and the September annual 
inflation figure as measured by the Consumer Price Index.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

Annual Benefit Statements
2.1 Regulation 89 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 requires administering 

authorities to issue an Annual Benefit Statement to all active, deferred and 
pension credit members by 31 August, following the end of the Scheme year. 

The deadline to issue the statements has been brought forward under LGPS 
2014 from 5 October to 31 August, adding further resource pressures on the 
data cleansing and record management of the employer supplied contribution 
returns.

2.2 It is noteworthy that regulation 89(4) stipulates that only statements for active 
members have to be provided in accordance with the HM Treasury Direction 
issued under section 14 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. 

Any failure to comply with the statutory deadline to issue the Annual Benefit 
Statements under the Act should be evaluated as to whether it constitutes a 



breach of material significance that must be reported to the Pensions 
Regulator.

2.3 The change to the CARE scheme with effect from April 2014 resulted in an 
array of changes to the specification file for employer ‘End of Year’ 
contribution returns, the design of the statements and the operational 
processing of data at both employer and Fund level. 

2.4 MPF has been working closely with employers for twelve months prior to the 
change in data requirements, to allow adequate time to amend payroll 
systems. The Fund has provided documentation and training to support 
employers in understanding their administrative requirements under both the 
new and legacy scheme.

2.5 MPF adapted the national template for the layout of the produced benefit 
statement and developed bespoke supporting notes and explanations.  It was 
cost effective to also include a newsletter with the statement informing 
members of the further amendments to the regulations, as required under 
statutory disclosure requirements. In addition, the newsletter provided notice 
that future statements would only be available electronically unless members 
requested a paper copy.

2.6 Wirral IT provided a managed service for printing, collation and posting the 
statements and MPF successfully delivered 34,644 statements to its active 
members (85%) by the deadline, with a further 2,926 (7%) issued by 16 
October - bringing the total issued to date to 92% of the eligible active 
membership base.

2.7 It is evident from communications with the LGA, that the vast majority of 
Funds did not achieve this deadline and that the Pensions Regulator has 
recognised “teething problems” relating to the introduction of the new 
Scheme, the significant data and IT system issues faced by both Funds and 
employers and as a result it has extended the deadline to 30 November.

2.8 There is a continuing exercise to assist employers in providing any 
outstanding information and upon receipt of the necessary data; final 
statements will be issued prior to the revised deadline.

2.9 Where a legal duty relevant to the administration of the scheme has not been 
complied with, those involved in managing the Fund are under a duty to report 
breaches of the law to the Regulator if they consider the failing to be of 
material significance as outlined  under the Regulator’s code of practice.   

2.10 If it is apparent that the breach has occurred due to revised systems or 
processes and it can be demonstrated that appropriate action is being taken 
to rectify the breach, it may not be necessary to report the incident to the 
Pensions Regulator, but it should be recorded in the Fund’s internal breach log. 

 
2.11 As the Fund is strengthening processes to demonstrate the efforts to assist 

and educate employers in submitting accurate, timely information and is 



recording evidence of any employer’s failure to improve, it is not felt that the 
Fund’s efforts to issue an Annual Benefit Statement to every eligible active 
member, constitutes a material breach to the Regulator.

Evidence of continual non-compliance on behalf of the employer would be 
taken account by the Regulator when considering whether to issue an 
‘improvement notice’ to employers. 

2.12 In addition, the Fund has reviewed its operational procedures to reduce the 
impact of the concentration of resource around data quality at the end of the 
financial year and will be moving to more frequent data reconciliation 
exercises with employers.  

This will enable the Fund to identify employers who are facing specific 
difficulties during the year and provide support to help resolve queries, thus 
increasing the number of Annual Benefit Statements that are issued to the 
eligible active membership by the statutory deadline of 31 August.

Public Sector Exit Payment Cap

2.13 Members were apprised that the Government had issued a consultation on 
the proposal to cap the total cost of Public Sector Exit payments at £95,000 at 
its last meeting (minute 20 refers).

2.14 The consultation closed on 27 August and HMT’s response to the consultation 
was published on 17 September. It is short on detail but confirms that the 
Government plans to proceed with the introduction of the cap as part of the 
Enterprise Bill.

2.15 The HMT response noted that a significant number of respondents disagreed 
with the intent to include early retirement strain costs within the scope of the 
cap on the basis that the cap would impact workers on moderate salaries with 
long service, and also that the cap was in breach of the 25 year guarantee on 
pension reform.

2.16 The Government disagreed with the latter point, and noted that the pension 
access costs must be included to ensure that early retirement is not used as a 
means to avoid the cap.

2.17 The Enterprise Bill is currently making its way through Parliament and during 
the Bill’s passage the LGA will seek to meet with government officials to 
discuss how the cap would work in practical terms in relation to the LGPS. 



Consumer Price Index (CPI) - Negative September 2015

2.18 The September annual CPI inflation figure has fallen to a negative value of      
-0.1%.

The annual inflation figure is very significant for the LGPS and other public 
service pension schemes as it is used for calculating increases in benefits the 
following April.

2.19 Benefits for retired or deferred members will not be reduced to reflect the fall 
in prices, as the underlying legislation does not permit this, but there will be no 
increase applied to the current value of benefits.

2.20 For benefits which have built up on a career average basis since April 2014, a 
reduction of 0.1% could apply for members still in service - if HM Treasury 
choose to use their power under the Public Service Pensions Act and LGPS 
Regulations, as yet nothing has been confirmed.

Benefits which built up before April 2014 are still calculated on a “final salary” 
basis, and these benefits are not affected by the negative inflation. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 There is the risk that failure to report a significant breach is likely in itself to be 

judged as a significant breach by the Pensions Regulator.

3.2 It should be noted that section 10 of the Pensions Act 1995 imposes civil 
penalties of £5,000 to any person or £50,000 for any corporate body who fails 
without reasonable cause to report a breach. 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 Not relevant for this report 

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Not relevant for this report

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  None associated with the subject matter.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The fall in inflation to a negative value will necessitate additional resources on 

supplying appropriate member communications in the event that a negative 
revaluation order is issued.

8.2 In addition, as the State Pension Scheme is guaranteed by the triple lock 
resulting in an increase of at least 2.5% to the state pension, this may prompt 



queries from pensioners as to the lack of increase to their local government 
pension; this too will place additional pressure on resources in issuing 
appropriate communication material and officers dealing with enquiries during 
the period of payroll year end processing.

 
8.3 There would be a requirement to evaluate whether the pension administration 

software could apply the statutory orders for each different type of membership, 
taking into account that any pension increase would default to nil.           

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

No, because Department of Communities and Local Government undertake 
equality impact assessments with regard to the statutory reform of the LGPS.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are none arising from this report

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report

13.0 RECOMMENDATION
13.1 That members note the report.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 There is a requirement for Members of the Pension Committee to be kept up 

to date with legislative developments as part of their decision making role. 

REPORT Yvonne Caddock
AUTHOR Principle Pension Officer

Telephone (0151) 242 1333
Email yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date
The LGPS update is a standing item on the 
Pensions Committee agenda.





WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSION COMMITTEE

 16 NOVEMBER 2015
SUBJECT: REPORTING BREACHES OF THE LAW TO 

THE PENSION REGULATOR

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF 
TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members with an overview of the enhanced role of the 

Pensions Regulator and the requirement to report breaches of pension law as 
defined within section 13 (7) and 70 (2) a of the Pension Act 2004 to the  
Pension Regulator. 

1.2 In April 2015, the Regulator published its Code of Practice Number 14 (the 
Code) on the governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes to assist schemes with their administration and governance 
responsibilities and to establish a procedure in assessing breaches of material 
significance to the regulator. 

.
1.3 Merseyside Pension Fund’s proposed Breaches Policy and operational 

procedure for identifying breaches under both the jurisdiction of the Pension 
Regulator, and any non compliance under the Local Government Pension 
Regulations, is attached as an appendix to the report. A decision tree based 
on the traffic light system of Red, Amber and Green is included within the 
policy to assess whether the breach is materially significant and the process 
for reporting the breach to the Regulator.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 Under the Pension Act 2004, Wirral Council as administering authority of 

Merseyside Pension Fund, are under a legal obligation to consider making a 
report to the Regulator, if they become aware that there has been a breach of 
the legal requirements, relating to the administration and management of 
Merseyside Pension Fund. Failure to report a breach when required to do so 
is a civil offence which can result in a fine on the persons who fail to report.



2.2 The following persons are required to report breaches of the law to the 
Regulator where they have reasonable cause to believe that a legal duty, 
which is relevant to the administration of the LGPS has not been, or is not 
being, complied with and the failure to comply is likely to be of material 
significance to the Regulator in the exercise of any of its functions:

 the scheme manager ( Wirral Council as the administering authority)

 all members of the Pensions Committee

 all members of the Local Pension Board

 all officers involved in the administration of the Fund

 officers of employers participating in the Fund

 professional advisors including auditors, actuaries, legal advisers and 
Fund managers; and

 any person who is otherwise involved in advising managers of MPF in 
relation to the LGPS.

2.3 To assist the Regulator’s code states that a procedure should be established 
to ensure that those with a responsibility to make reports are able to meet 
their legal obligations.

Procedure for reporting procedures of the law to the Regulator

2.4 The Code sets out practical guidance on the procedures to follow in 
formulating a policy to enable people to raise concerns and facilitate the 
objective consideration of those matters within an appropriate timescale.

2.5 The Code recommends that the procedures should include the following 
features:

 a process for obtaining clarification of the law around the suspected breach 
where needed

 a process for clarifying the facts around the suspected breach where they are 
not known

 a process for consideration of the material significance of the breach by taking 
into account its cause, effect, the reaction to it, and its wider implications, 
including (where appropriate) dialogue with the scheme manager or pension 
board

 a clear process for referral to the appropriate level of seniority at which 
decisions can be made on whether to report to the Regulator



 a system to record breaches even if they are not reported to the Regulator 
(the record of past breaches may be relevant in deciding whether to report 
future breaches, for example it may reveal a systemic issue); and

 a process for identifying promptly any breaches that are so serious they must
always be reported.

2.6 The Code requires that a material breach should be reported to the Regulator 
as soon as is reasonably practicable but no later than one month after 
becoming aware of the breach or likely breach. Where a breach is so 
significant that the Regulator may have to intervene urgently (e.g. in the case 
of serious fraud) then it should be brought to the attention of the Regulator 
immediately by way of a telephone call.

2.7 In order to comply with the requirements of the breaches policy, the Fund 
needs to appoint a senior officer to be responsible for the management and 
execution of the policy.  This person will be responsible for the oversight of 
recording and reporting breaches (and likely breaches).

2.8 The responsible officer needs to have on objective view of the potential 
breaches and it is therefore suggested that this should be an officer outside of 
the pension fund. The Monitoring Officer has been identified as the most 
suitable candidate and Members are asked to note and approve this 
appointment.

2.9 Where a breach or potential breach is identified officers in consultation with 
the Monitoring Officer will undertake the necessary steps to determine 
whether a breach or likely breach should, or should not, be reported to the 
Regulator.  

2.10 Given the relatively short deadline of one month to report breaches to the 
Regulator, and recognising that officers will only be able to present the 
breaches log to the Committee and Local Pension Board at scheduled 
meetings, it is suggested that an Electronic Decision Notice (EDN) process be 
adopted.

2.11 As the role of the Local Pension Board is to ensure the efficient and effective 
governance and administration of the LGPS it is further proposed that the 
EDN’s be sent to the Board and that they approve the decision of whether or 
not to report a specific breach (or likely breach) to the Regulator.

2.12 The breaches log itself will be presented both to the Committee and the 
Pension Board on a six monthly basis.

All breaches of the law will be recorded including those that are not reported 
to the Regulator together with any incidence of non compliance under the 
LGPS regulations which are not specifically under the remit of the Pension 
Regulator 



2.13 Once the procedure is approved, all persons required to report breaches of 
the law will be informed of their legal obligations. All officers involved in the 
administration of the Fund have undertaken the e-learning program 
“Reporting Breaches of the Law” on the Regulator’s website. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The code outlines the importance of identifying, managing and reporting 

breaches as failure to report without a reasonable excuse is a civil offence 
which can result in civil penalties. 

3.2 Members of the Pensions Committee and the Local Pension Board will be 
informed of all breaches and the actions taken for each breach as part of the 
Pension Fund review of the Risk Register 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 Not relevant for this report 

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Not relevant for this report

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  None associated with the subject matter.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS
8.1 All persons required to report breaches of the law must be trained to ensure 

awareness of the policy for evaluating and reporting breaches under the 
Fund’s procedure and will be encouraged to test their knowledge and 
understanding of their legal obligations by completing the e-learning program 
“Reporting Breaches of the Law” on the Regulator’s website.    

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
9.1 The Code requires that the Fund undertakes robust checks to ensure that a 

breach has actually occurred before reporting it to the Regulator and must not 
act on the suspicion of a breach having occurred. This may involve obtaining 
legal advice to confirm that a breach has actually occurred. 

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?



No, because Department of Communities and Local Government undertake 
equality impact assessments with regard to the statutory duties under the 
LGPS.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are none arising from this report

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report

13.0 RECOMMENDATION
13.1 Members are asked to:

 Note and adopt the breaches policy

 Note and approve the appointment of the responsible officer

 Note and approve that an EDN process be adopted to obtain agreement from 
Board Members when a breach should or should not be reported to the 
Regulator

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 To ensure compliance with the statutory duties placed on Merseyside Pension 

Fund under relevant Pension Law and the Code of Practice Number 14 which 
relates to the governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes.

REPORT Yvonne Caddock
AUTHOR Principle Pension Officer

Telephone (0151) 242 1333
Email yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk



APPENDIX

Merseyside Pension Fund Breaches Policy 2015

Briefing Note Date



 

BREACHES
  POLICY 2015



2

Contents
Breaches of the law 3
Background 3
Overview 3
What is a breach of the law? 4
What is non-compliance under the LGPS Regulations? 5
Responsibilities in relation to breaches 5
Requirement to report a breach of the law 5
When is a breach required to be reported to the Regulator? 6
Assessing “reasonable cause” 7
Deciding if a breach is “materially significant” and should be reported to the Regulator 7
Process for reporting breaches 9
Responsibilities of the responsible officer 10
How should a breach be reported to the Regulator? 10
How are records of breaches maintained? 11
Whistleblowing 11
Training 11
APPENDIX A 12
APPENDIX B 14
APPENDIX C 15
APPENDIX D 16

    



3

    Breaches of the law

Background
Merseyside Pension Fund (“the Fund”) has prepared this document in setting out its 
policy and procedures on identifying, managing and where necessary reporting 
breaches of the law as covered in paragraphs 241 to 275 of the Pensions Regulator’s 
Code of Practice no 14 (Governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes) – “the Code of Practice”.

This policy sets out the responsibility of elected members, officers of the Merseyside 
Pension Fund (“the Fund”) and the local pension board in identifying, managing and 
where necessary reporting breaches of the law as they apply to the management 
and administration of the Fund.  

This policy does not cover the responsibility of other “reporters” (described later in 
this policy) in relation to their obligation to report breaches in accordance with the 
Code of Practice where they relate to the management and administration of the 
Fund.  Where a breach of the law is identified both the Fund and the local pension 
board will take all necessary steps to consider the breach and report to the 
Regulator, rather than having the breach reporting by any of the other “reporters”. 

This policy will be reviewed by the Fund at least annually. The Fund will monitor all 
breaches and will ensure that adequate resources are allocated to managing and 
administering this process.

The Administering Authority Monitoring Officer will be responsible for the 
management and execution of this breaches policy.

The Head of Pensions will ensure that training on breaches of the law and this policy 
is conducted for all relevant officers and elected members, as well as members of 
the local pension board at induction and on an ongoing basis.

Overview
The identification, management and reporting of breaches is important.  It is a 
requirement of the Code of Practice; failure to report a breach without “reasonable 
excuse” is a civil offence that can result in civil penalties.  

At the same time, in addition to identifying, rectifying and where necessary reporting 
a particular breach it provides an opportunity to learn from mistakes and review and 
improve processes in the areas where the breach occurred.

All staff are required to take a pro-active approach to the identification, management 
and reporting of all breaches that have occurred, or are likely to occur.

The Fund will maintain a log of all breaches under the LGPS regulations and wider 
pension law, statutory guidance or codes of practice under the remit of the pension 
regulator in accordance with the 2004 Pension Act.  

Where a breach has occurred it should be identified as either an area of non 
compliance under the LGPS Regulation, a breach under Pension Law as defined 



4

within section 13 of the 2004 Pension Act or the Pension Regulator’s code of practice 
14.

The definition of Pension Law under the jurisdiction of the Pension Regulator is any 
enactment contained in or made by virtue of:

a) the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (c. 48)

b) Part 1 of the Pensions Act 1995 (c. 26), other than sections 62 to 66A of 
that Act (equal treatment)

c) Part 1 or section 33 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 (c. 30), or 

d) this Act

e) section 5(4) (pension board: conflicts of interest and representation), 6 
(pension board: information), 14 (information about benefits) or 16 (records) 
of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013

f) paragraph 2 of Schedule 18 to the Pensions Act 2014 (c 19) 

g) the Pension Schemes Act 2015 

Therefore as the LGPS Regulations are made under the Superannuation Act 1972, 
the Pension Regulator views the provisions as being analogous to a private pension 
scheme’s rules which are the preserve of trustees and not of the Regulator

As such in the event of non compliance under the LGPS Regulations the failings 
should be documented in an internal log specifying the corrective action to be 
undertaken to strengthen operational procedures and controls in order to prevent or 
mitigate the impact of any future re-occurrences. 

Alternatively where the failure is identified by the Fund or local pension board as a 
breach of  Pension law  under the jurisdiction of the Pension Regulator, or the code 
it should be recorded, assessed and where defined to be of material significance to 
the Pension Regulator, must be reported as soon as reasonably practicable.  

The Fund and the local pension board cannot rely on waiting for other 
reporters to report a breach where it has occurred

What is a breach of the law?
A breach of the law is “an act of breaking or failing to observe a law, agreement, or 
code of conduct.”   It can encompass many aspects of the management and 
administration of the scheme, including failure:

 to do anything required under overriding legislation, applicable statutory 
guidance or codes of practice

 to maintain accurate records



5

 to act on any fraudulent act or omission that is identified

 of an employer to pay over member and employer contributions on time

 to pay member benefits either accurately or in a timely manner

 to issue annual benefit statements on time or non-compliance with the 
Regulator’s Code of Practice No 14. 

What is Non compliance under the LGPS Regulations ?
Non compliance with the LGPS regulations can encompass many aspects of the 
management and administration of the scheme, including failure:

 to do anything required under the LGPS Regulations

 to comply with policies and procedures (e.g. the Funds Statement of 
investment principles, funding strategy, discretionary policies, etc.);

Responsibilities in relation to breaches
Responsibility to report identified breaches of the law in relation to the Code of 
Practice falls on the following (known as “reporters”):

 Members and officers of the Fund, as the Scheme Manager

 Members of the local pension board

 Scheme employers

 Professional advisers (including the Fund actuary, investment advisers, legal 
advisers) 

and

 Third party providers (where so employed)

This policy applies only to members and officers of the Fund and members of the 
local pension board.  It is for the other reporters to ensure adequate procedures and 
policies are put in place in order to identify, assess and where necessary report 
breaches.  Both the Fund and the local pension board will take all necessary steps to 
consider the breach and report to the Regulator, rather than having the breach 
reporting by any of the other “reporters”. 

Requirement to report a breach of the Law
Breaches of the law which affect pension schemes should be considered for 
reporting to the Pensions Regulator.

The decision whether to report an identified breach depends on whether:



6

 there is reasonable cause to believe there has been a breach of the law

 and if so, is the breach likely to be of material significance to the Regulator?

It is important to understand that not every breach that is identified needs to be 
reported to the Regulator.  For example, where it can be demonstrated that 
appropriate action is being taken to rectify the breach, or the breach has occurred 
due to teething problems with new or revised systems or processes, it may not be 
necessary to report the incident to the Regulator. It is still necessary that all 
incidents of breaches identified are recorded in the Fund’s breaches log. This log will 
be reviewed on an on-going basis to determine any trends in the breaches log that 
might indicate any serious failings or fraudulent behaviour.  

Where such failings or fraudulent behaviour are identified immediate action will be 
taken to agree a plan of action to rectify the matter and prevent such an occurrence 
in the future.

Examples of potential breaches, including when they should and should not be 
reported to the Pensions Regulator are included in Appendix A.

When is a breach required to be reported to the Regulator?
The Code of Practice requires that a breach should be notified to the Regulator as 
soon as is reasonably practicable once there is reasonable cause to believe that a 
breach has occurred and that it is of material significance to the Regulator. In any 
event, where a breach is considered to be of material significance it must be 
reported to the Regulator no later than one month after becoming aware of the 
breach or likely breach.  

Where it is considered that a breach is of such significance that the Regulator is 
required to intervene as a matter of urgency (for example, serious fraud) the matter 
should be brought to the attention of the Regulator immediately (e.g. by calling 
them direct). A formal report should then be submitted to the Regulator, marked as 
“urgent” in order to draw the Regulator’s attention to it.

Where prompt and effective action is taken to investigate and correct the breach 
and its causes and, where appropriate, notify any affected members, the Regulator 
will not normally consider this to be materially significant. 

A breach is likely to be of concern and material significance to the Regulator where a 
breach has been identified and those involved: 

 do not take prompt and effective action to remedy the breach and identify 
and tackle its cause in order to minimise risk of recurrence

 are not pursuing corrective action to a proper conclusion

 fail to notify affected scheme members where it would have been appropriate 
to do so.



7

Assessing “reasonable cause”
It is important that the Fund and the local pension board are satisfied that a breach 
has actually occurred, rather than acting on a suspicion of such an event.

It will be necessary, therefore, for robust checks to be made by members and 
officers when acting on any suspicion of a breach having occurred. Where necessary 
this will involve taking legal advice from Legal Services (who may recommend 
specialist external legal advice if necessary) as well as other advisers (e.g. auditors 
or the Fund actuary or investment advisers). 

Deciding if a breach is “materially significant” and should be reported to 
the Regulator
The Regulator has produced a decision tree to assist schemes in identifying the 
severity of a breach and whether it should then be reported.  When determining 
materiality of any breach or likely breach the Fund and local pension board will in all 
cases consider the following:

 cause – e.g. dishonesty, poor governance, incomplete or inaccurate 
information, acting or failing to act in contravention of the law

 effect – e.g. ineffective internal controls, lack of knowledge and 
understanding, inaccurate records, potential for further breaches occurring 

 reaction – e.g. taking prompt and effective action to resolve a breach, 
notifying scheme members where appropriate; and

 wider implications – e.g. where a breach has occurred due to lack of 
knowledge or poor systems and processes making it more likely that other 
breaches will emerge in the future

The decision tree provides a “traffic light” system of categorising an identified 
breach:

 Green – not caused by dishonesty, poor governance or a deliberate 
contravention of the law and its effect is not significant and a plan is in place 
to rectify the situation. In such cases the breach may not be reported to the 
Regulator, but should be recorded in the Fund’s breaches log

 Amber – does not fall easily into either green or red and requires further 
investigation in order to determine what action to take.  Consideration of 
other recorded breaches may also be relevant in determining the most 
appropriate course of action

 Red - caused by dishonesty, poor governance or a deliberate contravention 
of the law and having a significant impact, even where a plan is in place to 
rectify the situation.  The Fund or local pension board must report all such 
breaches to the Regulator in all cases



8

If it is unclear as to whether the breach or likely breach is significant, in the first 
instance full details should always be reported to the Board to determine the 
appropriate course of action.

It should be noted that failure to report a significant breach or likely breach is likely, 
in itself, to be a significant breach.

The Fund will use the Regulator’s decision tree as a means of identifying whether 
any breach is to be considered as materially significant and so reported to the 
Regulator.  

Any failure of a scheme employer to pass over employee contributions that are 
considered to be of material significance must be reported to the Regulator 
immediately.  

In order to determine whether failure to pay over employee contributions is 
materially significant or not the Fund will seek from the employer:

 the cause and circumstances of the payment failure 

 what action the employer has taken as a result of the payment failure, and 

 the wider implications or impact of the payment failure 

Where a payment plan is agreed with the employer to recover outstanding 
contributions and it is being adhered to or there are circumstances of infrequent 
one-off late payments or administrative failures the late payment will not be 
considered to be of material significance.

All incidences resulting from the unwillingness or inability of the employer to pay 
over the employee contributions, dishonesty, fraudulent behaviour or misuse of 
employee contributions, poor administrative procedures or the failure to pay over 
employee contributions within 90 days from the due date will be considered to be of 
material significance and reported to the Regulator. 

Once a breach or likely breach has been identified, regardless of whether it needs to 
be reported to the Regulator, the relevant manager, in consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer, must review the circumstances of the breach in order to 
understand why it occurred, the consequences of the breach and agree the 
corrective measures required to prevent re-occurrence, including an action plan 
where necessary. All breaches must be recorded in the Fund’s breaches log.



9

Process for reporting breaches
All revenant officers and elected members of the Fund, as well as all members of the 
local pension board have a responsibility to:

 identify and assess the severity of any breach or likely breach

 report all breaches or likely breaches to the Monitoring Officer

 in conjunction with relevant officers agree a proposed course of action to 
rectify the breach and put in place measures to ensure the breach does not 
re-occur, obtaining appropriate legal or other advice where necessary

 ensure that the appropriate corrective action has been taken to rectify the 
breach or likely breach and to prevent it from recurring; and 



10

 co-operate with, and assist in, the reporting of breaches and likely breaches 
to the Pension Fund Committee, local pension board and where necessary the 
Regulator

Responsibilities of the responsible officer
The Fund will appoint one of the administering authority’s senior officers to be 
responsible for the management and execution of this breaches policy. That officer 
will be the Monitoring Officer.

The Monitoring Officer will be responsible for recording and reporting breaches and 
likely breaches as follows:

 record all identified breaches and likely breaches of which they are aware in 
the Fund’s breaches log

 investigate the circumstances of all reported breaches and likely breaches

 ensure, where necessary that an action plan is put in place and acted on to 
correct the identified breach and also ensure further breaches of a similar 
nature do not reoccur

 report to the Pension Fund Committee and local pension board:

- all materially significant breaches or likely breaches that will require 
reporting to the Regulator as soon as practicable, but no later than one 
month after becoming aware of the breach or likely breach; and

- all other breaches at least quarterly as part of the Committee cycle

 report all materially significant breaches to the Regulator as soon as 
practicable but not later than one month after becoming aware of the breach

The Monitoring Officer will determine whether any breach or likely breach is 
materially significant, having regard to the guidance set out in the Code of Practice 
and after consultation where considered appropriate with the Pension Fund 
Committee and local pension board. 

Where uncertainty exists as to the materiality of any identified breach the Fund or 
local pension board will be required to informally notify the Regulator of the issue 
and the steps being taken to resolve the issue. 

How should a breach be reported to the Regulator?
All materially significant breaches must be reported to the Regulator in writing. This 
can be via post or electronically.  The Regulator encourages the use of its standard 
reporting facility via its on-line Exchange service.

The Fund will report all material breaches to the Regulator via the online Exchange 
function.



11

How are records of breaches maintained?
All breaches and likely breaches are to be reported to the Monitoring Officer as soon 
as they are identified. The Head of Pensions will log all breaches on the Fund’s 
breaches log, including the following information:

 date the breach or likely breach was identified

 the pension scheme’s registry number (if available)

 name of the employer (where appropriate)

 any relevant dates

 a description of the breach, its cause and effect, including the reasons it is, or 
is not, believed to be of material significance

 whether the breach is considered to be red, amber or green

 a description of the actions taken to rectify the breach

 whether the concern has been reported before, and

 a brief description of any longer term implications and actions required to 
prevent similar types of breaches recurring in the future.

The Monitoring Officer will be responsible for ensuring the effective management 
and rectification of any breach identified. The Principal Pension Officer will be 
responsible for submission of any report to the Regulator. Any documentation 
supporting the breach will be maintained by the Head of Pensions.

Whistleblowing
It is a statutory duty to report breaches of the law.  In rare cases this may involve a 
duty to whistleblow on the part of an employee of the Fund or a member of the local 
pension board. The duty to report does not override any other duties a “reporter” 
may have, such as confidentiality.  Any such duty is not breached by reporting to the 
Regulator.  Given the statutory duty that exists, in exercising this breaches policy the 
Fund will ensure it adheres to the requirements of the Employment Rights Act 1996 
in protecting an employee’s making a whistleblowing disclosure to the Regulator.

The duty to report, however, does not override ‘legal privilege’, so oral and written 
communications between the Fund or local pension board and a professional legal 
adviser do not have to be disclosed.

Training
The Head of Pensions will ensure that all relevant members and officers, as well as 
members of the local pension board receive appropriate training on this policy at the 
commencement of their employment or appointment to the local pension board as 
appropriate and on an ongoing basis.



12

APPENDIX A

Examples of breaches

Example 1

An employer is late in paying over employee and employer contributions, and so late 
that it is in breach of the statutory period for making such payments. It is contacted 
by officers from the administering authority, it immediately pays the moneys that are 
overdue, and it improves its procedures so that in future contributions are paid over 
on time. In this instance there has been a breach but members have not been 
adversely affected and the employer has put its house in order regarding future 
payments. The breach is therefore not material to the Regulator and need not be 
reported. 

Example 2

An employer is late in paying over employee and employer contributions, and so late 
that it is in breach of the statutory period for making such payments. It is also late in 
paying AVCs to the AVC provider. It is contacted by officers from the administering 
authority, and it eventually pays the moneys that are overdue, including AVCs to the 
AVC provider. This has happened before, with there being no evidence that the 
employer is putting its house in order. In this instance there has been a breach that 
is relevant to the Regulator, in part because of the employer’s repeated failures, and 
also because those members paying AVCs will typically be adversely affected by the 
delay in the investing of their AVCs. 

Example 3 

An employer is late in submitting its statutory year-end return of pay and 
contributions in respect of each of its active members and as such it is in breach. 
Despite repeated reminders it still does not supply its year-end return. Because the 
administering authority does not have the year-end data it is unable to supply, by 31 
August, annual benefit statements to the employer’s members. In this instance there 
has been a breach which is relevant to the Regulator, in part because of the 
employer’s failures, in part because of the enforced breach by the administering 
authority, and also because members are being denied their annual benefits 
statements. 

Example 4

A member of the Pension Fund Management Panel, who is also on the Property 
Working Group, owns a property. A report is made to the Property Working Group 
about a possible investment by the Fund, in the same area in which the member’s 
property is situated. The member supports the investment but does not declare an 
interest and is later found to have materially benefitted when the Fund’s investment 
proceeds. In this case a material breach has arisen, not because of the conflict of 
interest, but rather because the conflict was not reported. 



13

Example 5

A pension overpayment is discovered and thus the administering authority has failed 
to pay the right amounts to the right person at the right time. A breach has 
therefore occurred. The overpayment is however for a modest amount and the 
pensioner could not have known that (s)he was being overpaid. The overpayment is 
therefore waived. In this case there is no need to report the breach as it is not 
material.



14

APPENDIX B

Form to report a breach of the law or Code of Practice under the 
Jurisdiction of the Pension Regulator to the Monitoring Officer 

Name of Reporter:

Position:

Telephone number

Email address

Address

Description of the 
breach (please 
include any relevant 
dates)

Do you believe that 
the breach is of 
material significance 
to The Pensions 
Regulator? 

Please give your 
reasons

Have you reported 
the breach to The 
Pensions Regulator?

Please send the completed form by email or post to:

Colin Hughes
Monitoring Officer 
Town Hall
Brighton Street, 
Wallasey 
Wirral
CH44 8ED

Telephone Number 691 8502
E-mail: colinhughes@wirral.gov.uk



15

D

APPENDIX C
Hypothetical Example Record of Breaches under Pension Law/ Or Code Relevant to Pension Regulator 

Date Category (e.g. 
administration, 
contributions, 
funding, 
investment, 
criminal activity)

Description 
and cause of 
breach

Possible effect 
of breach and 
wider 
implications

Reaction of 
relevant 
parties to 
breach

Reported/Not 
reported to the 
Regulator (with 
justification if 
not reported 
and dates)

Outcome of 
report and/or 
investigations

Outstanding 
actions

30/09/2015 Contributions No employer and 
employee 
contributions 
paid by employer 
for two months 
(June and July). 
Queried with 
employer on 
23/08/215

Where 
contributions 
remain 
outstanding for 
more than 90 
days, then likely 
to be of material 
significance to 
the Regulator

Employer 
advised Fund 
on 26/08/2015 
that late 
payment of 
contribution 
due to 
installation of 
new payroll 
system and 
outstanding 
contribution will 
be paid without 
delay 

Not reported as 
outstanding 
contribution paid 
over on 
31/08/2015 and 
therefore not of 
material 
significance as 
paid within 90 
days of the due 
date

Investigations 
showed that the 
employer had not 
previously been 
late in paying 
contributions.

Contributions for 
August paid on 
19/09/2015

Monitor 
payments on 
19/10/2015 to 
ensure that late 
payment was a 
one off failure



16

APPENDIX D

Hypothetical Example Record of Non Compliance With Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations  
Date LGPS Regulatory 

Provision or 
failure to comply 
with published 
policies

Description 
and cause of 
breach

Possible effect 
of breach and 
wider 
implications

Reaction of 
relevant 
parties to 
breach

Outcome of  
investigations

Outstanding 
actions

01/10/2015 Regulation 40 
Death Grant 
payment

Failure to 
identify 
beneficiaries of 
estate of 
deceased. 
Correct 
procedure not 
followed.

Where a 
member died in 
service without 
completing an 
expression of 
wish form, but 
Fund did not 
identify correct 
dependents, 
leading to 
possible 2nd 
payment of 
death grant.

Dependent, a 
long term 
partner of 
deceased 
appealed the 
decision to pay 
on strength of 
letters of 
administration. 
Recipient 
relative 
identified by 
probate office 
refused to 
repay death 
grant. 

Investigations 
showed that the 
Probate office was 
limited by their 
regulations which 
pre-judged 
against a partner 
and Fund had 
failed to recognize 
this.

Ensure all staff 
trained and 
policy updated.

Documented 
Procedure 
inbuilt in to 
electronic 
workflow 
system



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
16 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: LGPS – POOLING OF INVESTMENTS  

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR TRANSFORMATION 

& RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members with an update on the Fund’s actions in response to the 

government’s proposals for pooling of LGPS investments.

1.2 This report also seeks Members’ approval for officers to continue to develop proposals 
for pooling in consultation with the Chair.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Chancellor delivered his Budget on 8 July 2015. The Chancellor’s Budget Report 

(Red Book) contained a section announcing potentially far reaching changes to the 
degree and flexibility that will be given to Local Government Pension Funds (LGPF) in 
the future regarding local decision making and control in the management and 
allocation of LGPS pension fund investment assets. The statement follows:

2.2 “Local Government Pension Scheme pooled investments: the government will work with 
Local Government Pension Scheme administering authorities to ensure that they pool 
investments to significantly reduce costs, while maintaining overall investment 
performance. The government will invite local authorities to come forward with their own 
proposals to meet common criteria for delivering savings. A consultation to be published 
later this year will set out those detailed criteria as well as backstop legislation which will 
ensure that those administering authorities that do not come forward with sufficiently 
ambitious proposals are required to pool investments.

2.3 There was no mention of the debate concerning active versus passive investment, a 
mandatory passive approach or any prescriptive legislation involving passive investment 
which have been mooted in the past.

2.4 On 5 October 2015, in his speech at the party conference, the Chancellor referred to 
the pooling of LGPS assets the intent of which was subsequently confirmed by DCLG in 
their letter of 7 October “the Chancellor announced that we are going to work with 
administering authorities to bring together investments into up to six pools spread 
across the country, creating conditions to save hundreds of millions in costs and invest 
billions in infrastructure in the regions”.  The letter continued “The Government remains 



keen to see authorities take the lead in identifying the best way to deliver savings and 
drive infrastructure investment and, as announced at the Budget, we will shortly be 
inviting administering authorities to bring forward proposals to deliver pooled 
investments that meet published criteria.

2.5  To date, actions have included officer attendance at events, and conference calls with 
the Local Government Association (LGA), Department of Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG), Scheme Advisory Board (SAB), and many other LGPS funds. The 
consultation paper (when it is published in early November) will provide a lot more detail 
and guidance than is present at the moment.

2.6 The November consultation paper will cover:

 Legislative changes circulated in draft to give the Secretary of State increased 
powers;

 Proposed changes in the investment regulations;
 Acceptable criteria for pooling; 
 Back stop measures for recalcitrant schemes.

2.7 There are no plans to formally consult on the criteria for pooling. It is expected that the 
criteria for pooling (all asset classes) are likely to be: Size (£30bn target); Cost Savings; 
Governance.

2.8 In addition, there is likely to be a further statement in the Chancellor’s 2016 Budget. The 
Government acknowledges that pooling will take around three years to implement with 
illiquid assets taking longer. The consultation paper will outline ‘common criteria’ that 
will be used to assess the proposals brought forward by Funds, including the optimal 
scale and size of pooled investments.

2.9 Government has publicly acknowledged the advance already made in this area by 
some Funds, and indicated that it is its intention is to build on that progress. Following 
the budget statement, the Lancashire/LPFA, the London CIV and the LGPS National 
Frameworks have all indicated that Government has individually reaffirmed to them that 
their initiatives are consistent with the objectives for fee savings through scale 
economies.

2.10 The focus appears to have moved on from the active/passive debate to an issue of 
scale and better governance. The government is not wedded to one type of pooling or 
another; they will not be prescriptive, preferring to hear proposals direct from the LGPS. 
Overall scale has strong political appeal with the ultimate model being one in which 
strategic asset allocation is set locally by each Administrative Authority, with that 
allocation being implemented by investing in one or more asset pools. Ultimately, the 
objective is for there to be only half a dozen or so pool buyers of fund management 
services, not the current 89 individual funds. Pooling proposals will be judged against 
the criteria published in November 2015 with the minimum size of acceptable pool 
expected to be around £25bn to £30bn.

2.11 There will be the opportunity to put forward proposals in the consultation response later 
in the year. Officers are currently exploring opportunities with several other Funds 
through the several work streams being coordinated by Hymans Robertson which will 
provide data and information on the various options which will assist in informing 
decisions.  Options are being evaluated against the following criteria:



 Size - are the multi asset pools sufficient to meet the assumed government 
criteria of £30bn, are the other vehicles optimally sized for their class or 
method?

 Costs - what are the estimated gross savings for each option?
 Governance - how do each of the models provide political structures and 

behaviours that encourage best practice outcomes (e.g. long term investment)?
 Local political direction - who is working with whom already; where are the 

obvious fits?
 Central political direction - are there other policy drivers which the options best 

fit with (e.g. combined authorities)?
 Impact on competition - both in the manager market and between pools.
 Legislative requirements - what is needed and what would be the time frame 

needed?

2.12 The Fund is represented on the Steering Committee of this group (as an alternate) and 
is also contributing to the Listed Equities (Active) work stream and Internal Management 
work stream.

2.13 The Government has also stated that it is keen to see authorities take the lead in 
delivering savings, suggesting that it will actively support Funds that come forward with 
any new initiatives of sufficient ambition and scale.  Conversely, its intent to impose 
sanctions on those Funds who do not voluntarily undertake “sufficiently ambitious” plans 
for asset pooling has also been confirmed. 

2.14 Pooling Options

Whilst the Government has not issued an answer to the responses from its paper, 
“Opportunities for collaboration, cost saving and efficiencies”, published in May 2014, 
given the structure of the questions contained in the initial consultation, and the 
Chancellor’s budget announcement, it is clear that the Government’s preference is for 
greater scale in investment management through pooling of assets and other 
efficiencies.

This view would appear to be driven by a belief that savings in investment management, 
across the LGPS as a whole, can be achieved by moving to pooled vehicles with a 
proportion of the assets managed passively. Pooling at a regional level appears to be 
the default option unless sufficiently ambitious plans for asset pooling in an alternative 
way can be proposed.

2.15 Officers are open to consideration of all options either currently available or requiring 
development that would ensure the Fund retains strategic management of asset 
allocation and influence over investment decision-making.

2.16 The key factors that officers have looked to address in any option to be considered are 
that: 

 Asset allocation strategy must be retained at an individual Fund level;
 Any new structure should be capable of enabling the effective management of 

individual employer risks;



 The Fund should retain a pivotal role in the governance of any pooled structure 
chosen;

 Any partner should be ‘like-minded’ and have a complementary investment 
philosophy;

 Any new structures should offer opportunities for savings, while retaining or 
improving on the Fund’s current performance;

 The possibility to increase internal management capability and the ability to 
make local investments;

 Any solution provides additional resilience and capacity over and above current 
governance structures;

 The structure chosen must be flexible so as to ensure assets are only 
transferred into any vehicle when/if it is efficient and cost effective to do so;

 Any new structure must be scalable to ensure some level of future proofing;
 A solution will seek to provide internal shared resource to progress more 

proactive management of liabilities and cash flows.

2.17 Timescales

Government to set “common criteria” by informal consultation 
with the LGPS and advice from industry experts

Aug – Oct 2015

Consultation issued (including investment regulations and 
backstop legislation)

Nov 2015

Consultation responses from all stakeholders (12 week 
response period)

Feb 2016

Draft regulations published Mar 2016

Effective date April 2016

Creation of pools (phased in over ‘life of Parliament’) 2019

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The risk contained within the Chancellor’s announcement is that unless suitably 

ambitious proposals are brought forward for delivering savings then mandatory 
arrangements will be imposed.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 All appropriate options remain under consideration.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 The Chair of the Pensions Committee has been consulted and has been involved in 

several meetings including with DCLG and other LGPS funds..

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS



7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 The government’s proposals are intended to deliver substantial savings from the 

investment manager fee base within the 89 funds of the LGPS.  It is expected that the 
work being co-ordinated by Hymans Robertson will provide credible data which will 
inform the costs of the various options and potential savings.

 
9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental issues 

arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members note the report and authorise officers to continue developing pooling 

options.  Future papers for the Committee will provide further information on likely 
costs/benefits and any material costs incurred in working up proposals.  Any final 
decision will be subject to Committee approval. 

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 In view of the tight timescales, it is important that preparatory work is undertaken so that 

an informed response to the Government’s consultation can be prepared.

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
HEAD OF PENSION FUND
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Pension Committee September 2015



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
PENSIONS COMMITTEE 
16 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION
PROCEDURE

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 

TRANSFORMATION AND  RESOURCES 
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

KEY DECISION NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) has a statutory complaints 

procedure for dissatisfied members; the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure 
(IDRP).

1.2 This report seeks approval to amend the panel of Appointed Persons who can 
consider appeals at stage 1 and stage 2 of the IDRP process in respect of MPF. 

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 Section 50 of the Pensions Act 1995 and the Occupational Pensions Schemes 

(Internal Dispute Resolution Procedures) Regulations 1996 requires the LGPS to 
operate a two stage procedure for the resolution of disagreements.

2.2 The Regulations require the individual Scheme Employers to consider any stage 1 
appeal against a decision taken by them. If the applicant is dissatisfied with the 
stage 1 decision then he or she may appeal further to the Administering Authority 
(MPF) which is responsible for consideration of the stage 2 appeal.

2.3 Both stage 1 and stage 2 appeals against decisions taken by the Pension Fund need 
to be  considered by  the  persons  appointed  by  the  Administering  Authority  to 
undertake this role. The same appointed person cannot consider an appeal from an 
individual at both the first and second stage of the process.

2.4 At the present the panel of Appointed Persons established by the Merseyside 
Pension Fund consists of:-

Malcolm Flanagan Head of Benefits, Revenue & Customer Services 
Peter Wallach Head of Merseyside Pension Fund
Yvonne Caddock Principal Pension Officer 
Barbara King Benefit Manager
Keith Higgins Benefit Manager



2.5 It is proposed to amend the panel of Appointed Persons to:

Tom Sault Acting Section 151 Officer / Head of Finance
Peter Wallach Head of Merseyside Pension Fund
Yvonne Caddock Principal Pension Officer 
Barbara King Benefit Manager
Keith Higgins Benefit Manager

2.6 The Head of Benefits, Revenue & Customer Services has retired and it is proposed 
that his role is replaced by the Acting Section 151Officer. There is a need to ensure 
sufficient resource and the need to appoint an officer independent of the pension 
fund to demonstrate appropriate governance when re-considering previous Fund 
determinations. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS
3.1 If the Pension Fund does not have a suitably qualified panel of persons to determine 

disputes then there is a risk of criticism from the Pensions Ombudsman.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
4.1 Any officer could be appointed to consider appeals but I recommend these officers 

as having the most relevant knowledge and experience.

5.0 CONSULTATION
5.1 No specific consultation has been undertaken with regard to this report

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
6.1 There are none arising from this report.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS
7.1 There are no additional requirements

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1 There are none arising from this report.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required for this report.

10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS
10.1 None arising from this report



11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 None arising from this report

12.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
12.1 That Members agree the proposed changes to the panel of authorised officers to 

consider appeals under the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure

13.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 One of the existing signatories is no longer available to undertake IDRP reviews 

and it has been necessary to refresh the panel of authorised officers.

REPORT AUTHOR: Yvonne Caddock
Principal Pension Officer 
Telephone: 0151 242 1333

email:  yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk

REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 25 March 2013

mailto:yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk




WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSION COMMITTEE

16 NOVEMBER 2015
SUBJECT: GOVERNANCE POLICY

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report is to inform Members of a number of amendments required to the 

Fund’s Governance Policy reflecting changes to the national governance 
arrangements of the Local Government Pension Scheme. It also documents a 
change of the responsible officer from the Director of Finance to the Head of 
Pension Fund within the scheme of delegation pursuant to Section 101 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

1.2 Provision of the Pensions Administration service by the Council in its role as 
Administering Authority of the Merseyside Pension Fund under Regulation 2 
and Schedule 3 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 is a statutory duty.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The recommendations made by Lord Hutton with regard to the governance 

and administration of Public Service Pension Schemes were accepted by the 
Government and were carried forward into the Public Service Pensions Act 
2013 . The Act includes a requirement for DCLG as the responsible authority 
to make regulations requiring each LGPS administering authority to create a 
local pension board with effect from 1 April 2015.

2.2 Regulation 55 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 sets out the requirements for 
the publication of a Governance Policy Statement by the Fund.

2.3 The current version of the Governance Policy was agreed by Committee at its    
meeting on 27 June 2011 (Minute 18 refers).



2.4 The existing Governance statement needs to be updated to include the 
following:
 Details of the new Wirral Council Pension Board approved by Full 

Council on 16 March 2015 (Minute 138 refers)

 The post titles of the officers to reflect changes to the Scheme of 
Delegation and to include the Strategic Director of Transformation and 
Resources within the various Working Parties and Fund Operating 
Group.  

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 None arising from this report 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 Not relevant for this report 

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Consultation with relevant stakeholders is not necessary as the amendments 

are as a result of statutory changes to the LGPS Regulations which have 
been previously subject to national consultation  

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  None associated with the subject matter.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 None arising from this report

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are none arising from this report

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

No, because Department of Communities and Local Government undertake 
equality impact assessments with regard to the statutory reform of the LGPS.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are none arising from this report

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report



13.0 RECOMMENDATION
13.1 That members are recommended to approve the updated Governance Policy 

attached at Appendix 1

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 There is a requirement for Members of the Pension Committee to be kept up 

to date with legislative developments as part of their decision making role. 

REPORT Yvonne Caddock
AUTHOR Principle Pension Officer

Telephone (0151) 242 1333
Email yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk

Appendix 1
Draft Updated Governance Policy 2015

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date
Governance Policy Statement

Governance Policy Statement 

6 April 2009

27 June 2011





 
 

is  re 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION     GOVERNANCE POLICY 
                     2015  



1 

Contents 
 
Introduction .......................................................................................................... 2 

Relationship of Merseyside Pension Fund and Wirral Council ........................................ 2 

Scheme of Delegation of (Non-Executive) Functions to Committees .............................. 2 

Pensions Committee .............................................................................................. 3 

Membership ............................................................................................................. 3 

Terms of Reference .................................................................................................. 3 

The Local Pension Board ....................................................................................... 4 

Membership ............................................................................................................. 4 

Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Officers ............................................................ 5 

Head of Pension Fund ............................................................................................... 5 

Decision Making Structure .................................................................................... 6 

Functions ............................................................................................................... 7 

Accountability and Publication of Information ..................................................... 8 

Meetings with Stakeholders .................................................................................. 8 

Compliance Statement .......................................................................................... 8 

ANNEX 1 ................................................................................................................ 9 

Training and Expenses Policy for Members of Pension Committee and Pension Board..... 9 

ANNEX 2 .............................................................................................................. 11 

Merseyside Pension Fund Governance Compliance Statement ..................................... 11 
 

  



2 

Introduction 
 

This statement sets out the scheme of delegation, the terms of reference, structure and 
operational procedures of the delegation. 
 

Relationship of Merseyside Pension Fund and Wirral Council 
 

Wirral Council is the administering authority of the Merseyside Pension Fund under the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and is the Scheme Manager as 
defined by Section 4 of the Public Service Pension Act 2013. In its capacity as Scheme 
Manager the council is authorised to manage the Pension Fund’s assets and liabilities and 
carry out any other specified activities associated with the operation of the Scheme. The 
authority is not authorised to give investment advice.  
 

Due to this status, the Fund is not required to be regulated by the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA) in order to operate its business. It is regulated by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG). 
 

As an administering authority, Wirral Council is required to act as if the Fund were set up 
under trust with the authority itself as the sole trustee, although the assets are not trust 
assets in the legal sense. 

Scheme of Delegation of (Non-Executive) Functions to Committees 
 

Under its Constitution, the council delegates, under Section 101 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to Pensions Committee all those non-Executive functions vested in it, identified in 
the terms of reference for the Committee (See page 3 below). 
 

The scheme delegates powers and duties within broad functional descriptions and includes 
powers and duties under all legislation present and future within those descriptions and all 
powers and duties including any statutory re-enactment or moderation of the legislation 
referred to in this scheme. 

 

Any exercise or responsibility for functions or delegated powers shall comply with: 
 

o any statutory requirements; 

o the Council’s Constitution; 

o the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and approved budget; 

o the Members Code of Conduct; 

o the Code of Recommended Practice on local authority publicity; 

o the agreed arrangements for recording decisions; 
 

This scheme does not delegate any matters reserved by law to the full Council or assigned 
to the Executive. 
 



3 

Pensions Committee 
 

Membership 
 

The Committee is comprised of fifteen voting members; ten of whom are members of 
Wirral Council, four members from the other local authorities and one member representing 
the other employing organisations in the Fund.  Three trade union representatives, with 
observer status, are invited and represent active, deferred and pensioner members. 

 

Terms of Reference 
  

1) To exercise on behalf of the Council all of the powers and duties of the Council in 
relation to its functions as administering authority of Merseyside Pension Fund, and in 
particular the following: 

 

2) To be responsible for the overall investment policy, strategy and principles of the 
Fund and its overall performance. 

 

3) To appoint and terminate professional advisors to, and external managers of, the 
Fund and agree the basis for their commission and remuneration. 

 

4) To receive actuarial valuations of the Fund and determine the level of employers’ 
contributions necessary to balance the Fund. 

 

5) To monitor the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations and overriding pension 
law, overseeing the governance of the Fund including the day to day administration 
and policy decisions relating to the management of the Scheme. 

 

6) To consider any views expressed by employing organisations, staff representatives 
and other stakeholders relating to the Fund. 

 

7) To appoint members of the Investment Monitoring Working Party, which shall have 
responsibility for reviewing the performance of the Fund’s investments, and its asset 
allocation and regularly reporting their findings to the Pensions Committee. 

 

8) To appoint members of the Governance and Risk Working Party, which shall have 
responsibility for reviewing governance and risk issues, and regularly reporting their 
findings to the Pensions Committee. 
 

9) To award contracts for goods and services relating to the Fund in accordance with the 
Contract Procedure Rules after taking into account the recommendations of officers 
and external professional advisors (where appropriate). 

 
  



4 

The Local Pension Board 
 
The Pension Board was established in April 2015 in accordance with the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013, the national statutory governance framework delivered through the 
LGPS Regulations and guidance as issued by the Scheme Advisory Board. 

 

 Membership  
 
The Pension Board is comprised of four voting employer representatives and four voting 
Scheme member representatives selected from the broad range of employers in the Fund 
and the different categories of the membership base. 
 

The employer representatives are office holders or senior employees of employers of the 
Fund or have experience of representing Scheme employers in a similar capacity. 
 

Member representatives are Scheme members of Merseyside Pension Fund and have the 
capacity to represent Scheme members of the Fund. 
 

The Pension Board is chaired by an independent non-voting member with significant 
relevant experience either as a Pension Fund trustee or in the running of Pension Funds. 
 

The role of the Pension Board is to assist Wirral Council, as Scheme Manager to: 
 

o comply with the Scheme regulations and other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of the Scheme; and 

 

o any requirements imposed by the regulator. 
 
A member of the Pension Board must be conversant with: 
 

o the rules of the Scheme and the law relating to pensions, and 
 

o any document recording policy about the administration of the Scheme which is 
for the time being adopted in relation to the Scheme. 

 
The Council considers that the Pension Board is providing oversight of these matters and, 
accordingly, the Pension Board is not a decision making body in relation to the 
management of the Pension Fund but merely makes recommendations to assist in such 
management. 
 
Full details of the operational procedures are set out in the Pension  Board’s Terms of 
Reference which can be accessed from the following link:  
 
http://mpfund.uk/pensionboard 
 
  



5 

Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Officers 
 

Head of Pension Fund 
 

The following functions, particular to the Pension Fund, are delegated to the Head of Pension 
Fund pursuant to Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 and by the Executive under 
Section 15 of the Local Government Act 2000.  

 
1) Undertake all day to day administration of, and investment decisions for, the 

Merseyside Pension Fund within the policy laid down by the Pensions Committee 
including the authorisation of admission agreements with contractor admission 
bodies pursuant to Best Value arrangements, as required by the Local 
Government Pensions Scheme Regulations.  

 
2) Terminate a contract of an external investment manager and enter into any 

consequential arrangements for the transitional management of the Fund’s 
investments pending the decision of the Pensions Committee on the award of a 
new contract. 

 
The Head of Pension Fund may authorise officers in his department to exercise on his 
behalf, functions delegated to him.  Any decisions taken under this authority shall remain 
the responsibility of the Head of Pension Fund and must be taken in his name, and he shall 
remain accountable and responsible for such decisions. 

 
  



6 

Decision Making Structure 
 
The structure for the management and governance of the Fund is as follows: 
 
 

 

 
 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 
14 elected Members + 

1 employer representative + 
   3 active, deferred & pensioner member representatives 

(minimum of 5 meetings per annum) 
 

  
  
PENSION BOARD 
 
Role to assist and provide 
a scrutiny function to the 
decision making structure 
 

INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING PARTY
 Members of Pension Committee +  

Strategic Director of Transformation & Resources  + 
Head of Pension Fund + Independent advisors 

(6 meetings per annum) 

4 voting employer 
representatives 
 

4 voting member 
representatives 
 

1 non-voting independent 
chair 
 

 

GOVERNANCE AND RISK WORKING PARTY 
  Members of Pensions Committee +  

Strategic Director of Transformation & Resources  + 
Head of Pension Fund + other officers as required 

(1 or 2 meetings per annum) 
 

3 Meetings per annum  

 FUND OPERATING GROUP 
Strategic Director of Transformation & Resources +  
Head of Pension Fund + Principal Pension Officer + 

Senior Investment Manager + Group Accountant   
(and deputies) (monthly meetings) 

 
  
 
 HEAD OF PENSION FUND 
  

 
 

  



7 

Functions 
 
The functions for the various elements are as follows: 
 
Pensions Committee 
 

To exercise on behalf of the Council all of the powers and duties of the Council in relation 
to its functions as administering authority of the County of Merseyside Pension Fund. 

 
Investment Monitoring Working Party (IMWP) 
 

Has responsibility for reviewing the performance of the Fund’s investments and its asset 
allocation and regularly reporting their findings to the Pensions Committee. 

 
Governance and Risk Working Party (GRWP) 

 
Has responsibility for reviewing governance and risk issues and regularly reporting their 
findings to the Pension Committee. 

 
Fund Operating Group (FOG) 
 

Forum for formal monthly reports to the Strategic Director of Transformation & Resources 
on the day-to-day operations of the Fund. 

 
Head of Pension Fund 
 

Responsible to the Strategic Director of Transformation & Resources and has delegated 
authority to make investments or to delegate to other employees investment decisions in 
accordance with the Fund’s strategic benchmark and delegated dealing limits. 

 
Policy on Training and Expenses 

 
Details of the policy on training and payment of expenses in respect of members of the 
Pensions Committee is set out in Annex 1 attached. 
 
  



8 

Accountability and Publication of Information 
 

Details of Pensions Committee and Pension Board meetings are published on the Wirral 
Council website together with agendas, reports to be considered by the Committee and 
Board and minutes of proceedings.  
 
The meetings of the Pensions Committee are held at Wallasey Town Hall with the Pension 
Board Meetings held at the Fund Office, both are open to the public. 
 
An Annual Pension Fund Report & Accounts is published and circulated to all employing 
bodies reporting on the activities and investment performance of the Fund during the year. 
Details of matters considered during the year and meetings held are reported and a copy of 
the annual report is available on the Fund website.  

Meetings with Stakeholders 
 

An Annual Employer Conference is held to which all Fund employers and members of the 
Pensions Committee and Pension Board are invited to attend. The annual conference is an 
opportunity for employers to question and challenge officers and elected members on 
matters of interest to their authorities and organisations.  
 
The Fund also holds other meetings as required with Employers to discuss important issues 
such as the Funding Strategy which underpins the actuarial valuation of the Fund and 
determines both employer’s liabilities and contribution schedules.  

Compliance Statement 
 

The Fund fully complies with the best practice guidelines on governance issued by the 
DCLG and details can be found at Annex 2 attached. 

 
 

  



9 

ANNEX 1 
 

Training and Expenses Policy for Members of Pension Committee and Pension 
Board 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Myners’ first principle recommends that “decisions should be taken only by persons or 
organisations with the skills, information and resources necessary to take them 
effectively”. Where trustees elect to take investment decisions, they must have sufficient 
expertise and appropriate training to be able to evaluate critically any advice they take. 

 
1.2 Trustees should ensure that they have sufficient in-house staff to support them in their 

investment responsibilities and should assess whether they have the right set of skills, 
both individually and collectively, and the right structures and processes to carry out their 
role effectively. 
 

2. Legal Considerations 
 

2.1 Elected members have a fiduciary responsibility to the Fund, Scheme members and local 
council tax payers in relation to the Local Government Pension Scheme. They can delegate 
functions to officers but they retain overall responsibility for the management of the Fund 
and its investment strategy, and individual decisions about investments. 

 
2.2 Administering authorities are required to take proper advice to enable them to fulfil their 

obligations under the above regulations.  “Proper advice” is defined in the regulations as 
“the advice of a person who is reasonably believed…to be qualified by his ability in and 
practical experience of financial matters….” 

 
2.3 The Local Pension Board has a statutory duty under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to 

be conversant with the rules of the Scheme and to discharge their responsibilities as set 
out in the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice No 14 and to comply with the Knowledge 
and Understanding Policy specific to Wirral Pension Board. 

 
3. Training Policy and Plan 

 
3.1 The Fund has had regard to the legal requirements set out in the Local Government 

Pension Scheme Regulations, other relevant legislation and best practice guidance 
published by CIPFA and other professional and regulatory bodies in drawing up this policy 
to ensure that all those involved in the decision making and oversight process receive all 
relevant training required to properly discharge their responsibilities. 

 
3.2 The Fund arranges an annual program of external and internal training events throughout 

the year designed to meet the requirements of new members of the Committee and the 
Board along with the ongoing needs of existing members.  

 



10 

3.3 These events are reported, formally, to Members of Committee and Pension Board on an 
annual basis.  

 
 Individual reports, to authorise attendance at these events are put to Committee on an 

event-by-event basis. Attendance of training events for the Pension Board is as agreed by 
the Independent Chair and the Head of Pension Fund. 

 
4. Policy for Payment of Expenses 

 
4.1 The Fund will reimburse all reasonable costs and expenses incurred in undertaking 

approved training for all members of the Pensions Committee and Pension Board. 
 
4.2 Claims should be submitted to the Fund and supported by an official receipt. 
 
4.3 Members serving on the Committee from other local authorities or organisations may 

choose to continue to claim any such expenses from these bodies instead if they prefer. 
  



11 

ANNEX 2   
 

Merseyside Pension Fund Governance Compliance Statement 
 

Part Governance Requirement    Fully
Compliant

II/A 
 
a. 
 
 
 
b. 
 
 
 
 
c. 
 
 
d. 
 
 
 

Structure 
 
The management of the administration of benefits and strategic management 
of Fund assets clearly rests with the main committee established by the 
appointing council. 
 
That representatives of participating LGPS employers, admitted bodies and 
Scheme members (including pensioner and deferred members) are members 
of either the main or secondary committee established to underpin the work   
of the main committee.   
 
That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, the 
structure ensures effective communication across both levels. 
 
That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, at least one 
seat on the main committee is allocated for a member from the secondary 
committee or panel. 
 

 
 

Yes 
 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

Yes 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 

II/B 
 
a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 

Representation 
 
That all key stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to be represented, 
within the main or secondary committee structure. These include:- 
 

i) employing authorities (including non-Scheme employers, e.g. 
admitted bodies); 
 

ii) Scheme members (including deferred and pensioner Scheme 
members),  
 

iii) independent professional observers, and 
 

 iv) expert advisors (on an ad-hoc basis). 
 

That where lay members sit on a main or secondary committee, they are 
treated equally in terms of access to papers and meetings, training and are 
given full opportunity to contribute to the decision making process, with or 
without voting rights. 
 

 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

II/C 
 
a. 

Selection and role of lay members 
 
That committee or panel members are made fully aware of the status, role and 
function they are required to perform on either a main or secondary 
committee.  
 
 

 
 

Yes 



12 

II/D 
 
a. 
 
 
 
 

Voting 
 
The policy of individual administering authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including the justification for not extending voting rights to each 
body or group represented on main LGPS committees. 
 
Following consultation undertaken with all stakeholders groups during 2008 the 
Fund confirmed that it believes its current representation and voting 
arrangements are appropriate to ensure good governance.  
 
Although they do not have voting rights the three trade union members 
representing the interests of active, pensioner and deferred members are able 
to play a full role in all aspects of the Governance of the Fund, including 
attendance at the Pension Committee and Investment Monitoring Working 
Party. They receive copies of all reports and are included in all training and 
briefings. 
 
 

 
 

Yes 

II/E 
 
a. 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 

Training/Facility time/Expenses
 
That in relation to the way in which statutory and related decisions are taken 
by the administering authority, there is a clear policy on training, facility time 
and reimbursement of expenses in respect of members involved in the 
decision-making process. 
 
That where such a policy exists, it applies equally to all members of 
committees, sub-committees, advisory panels or any other form of secondary 
forum. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

II/F 
 
a. 
 
 
b. 
 
 
c. 

Meetings (frequency/quorum)
 
That an administering authority’s main committee or committees meet at least 
quarterly. 
 
That an administering authority’s secondary committee or panel meet at least 
twice a year and is synchronised with the dates when the main committee sits. 
 
That administering authorities who do not include lay members in their formal 
governance arrangements, provide a forum outside of those arrangements by 
which the interests of key stakeholders can be represented. 
 

 
 

Yes 
 
 

Yes 
 
 

Yes 



13 

II/G 
 
a. 
 
 

Access 
 
That subject to any rules in the Council’s constitution, all members of main and 
secondary committees or panels have equal access to committee papers, 
documents and advice that falls to be considered at meetings of the main 
committee.   
 

 
 

Yes 

II/H 
 
a. 
 
 

Scope 
 
That administering authorities have taken steps to bring wider Scheme issues 
within the scope of their governance arrangements. 
 

 
 

Yes 

II/I 
 
a. 
 
 
 
 

Publicity 
 
That administering authorities have published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that stakeholders with an interest in the way in 
which the Scheme is governed, can express an interest in wanting to be part of 
those arrangements. 
 

 
 

Yes 

 
 

DRAFT  
28th October 2015 
  



14 

  



15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Merseyside Pension Fund 
PO Box 120 
Castle Chambers 
43 Castle Street 
Liverpool L69 2NW 

 
Telephone: 0151 242 1390 
Fax: 0151 236 3520 
Opening Times: Mon to Fri 9am -5pm 

 
Member Website: www.mpfmembers.org.uk 
Employer Website: www.mpfemployers.org.uk 
E-mail: mpfadmin@wirral.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

16 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT & CLIMATE 
RISK

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1   Climate change has significant investment implications, which Merseyside 

Pension Fund addresses through its responsible investment strategy.

1.2    Members are asked to reaffirm the commitment to responsible investment and 
to approve further investigation of alternative investment approaches to climate 
risk mitigation and adaptation.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 At its meeting of 28th September 2015, Pensions Committee discussed 

concerns relating to the risks to the investments of Merseyside Pension Fund 
presented by climate change. In particular, such risks as they related to the 
Fund’s fossil fuel-related investments. Members noted the Fund’s activities in 
this area, carried out in accordance with its commitment to Responsible 
Investment, and requested a further update on the issues. 

2.2 In December 2015 the latest round of UN climate change negotiations (COP21) 
will take place in Paris, which aims to make progress on reducing global carbon 
emissions to a level that is compatible with a scenario of restricting global 
warming to within two degrees of pre-industrial levels by 2100. The scientific 
consensus is that the world needs to halve emissions between 2010 and 2050 
to achieve this goal; a global temperature increase above two degrees will 
greatly exacerbate the risk of climate disturbance and make adaptation costlier. 
Whatever the outcomes of COP21, there is a clear direction of travel in public 
policy and strong likelihood of further government actions to restrict the use of 
fossil fuels. Among the financial implications of this is likely to be a significant 
increase in the cost structure of carbon emissions.

2.3 Widely regarded studies have pointed to a risk to investors exposed to 
‘stranded assets’, whereby interactions of external factors lead certain assets 
to suffer pre-mature or unanticipated valuation write-downs or conversion to 

http://unfccc.int/meetings/paris_nov_2015/meeting/8926.php
http://unfccc.int/science/workstreams/cooperation_with_the_ipcc/items/1077.php
http://unfccc.int/science/workstreams/cooperation_with_the_ipcc/items/1077.php
http://www.carbontracker.org/report/wasted-capital-and-stranded-assets/


liabilities. Companies in fossil fuel-intensive industries hold very sizeable oil, 
gas and coal reserves, of which 50-80% could not be commercialised by 2050 
if the two degree target to restrict global warming is to be met. Financial 
markets, it is argued, are failing to adequately price this risk. The Governor of 
the Bank of England, Mark Carney, addressed the risk to financial stability in a 
recent speech, “A wholesale reassessment of prospects, especially if it were to 
occur suddenly [carbon pricing], could potentially destabilize markets, spark a 
pro-cyclical crystallization of losses and a persistent tightening of financial 
conditions. The speed at which such re-pricing occurs is uncertain and could 
be decisive for financial stability.”

2.4 A number of groups have run increasingly prominent campaigns 
(predominantly focusing on university endowments and public pensions in the 
US, but attention now turning to European investors), calling on institutional 
investors to sell their shareholdings (divestment) in companies deemed to 
contribute significantly to global warming on account of their contribution to 
carbon emissions. Fossil Free UK has launched a divestment campaign 
targeted at the LGPS, calling on all Funds in the Scheme to commit to divesting 
from fossil fuel-related companies within five years. The campaign has created 
an online database that gives details of fossil fuel holdings of each Fund and 
has attracted national media interest. Fossil Free UK make the ethical and 
environmental arguments for divestment, alongside the financial one (the risk 
of substantial loss of capital value owing to exposure to stranded assets). 
However, alongside the challenges of implementation, there is a counter-
argument that holds that divestment is a sub-optimal strategy to address 
climate risk for an institutional investor with a long time horizon. 

2.5 As a responsible investor, the Fund seeks to integrate environmental 
considerations into its investment processes and ownership actions, in a 
manner that is consistent with its investment objectives and fiduciary 
obligations. This includes ongoing evaluation of the risks and opportunities 
arising from climate change and engagements with companies, regulators and 
policy-makers that seek to align strategies to climate change mitigation and 
adaptation scenarios. As an active member of LAPFF (see Appendices), the 
Fund has been engaging with companies in the oil & gas and mining industries 
to urge the identifying and tackling of carbon risks in their business models. 
The Fund was a co-filer of the strategic carbon resilience shareholder 
resolutions put to BP and Shell’s 2015 AGMs. The Fund is a signatory to the 
Global Investor Statement on Climate Change (see Appendices), which has 
been signed by investors representing in excess of US $24 trillion in assets and 
“sets out the contribution that we as investors can make to increasing low 
carbon and climate resilient investments.” The Fund pursues this strand of 
engagement through its membership of the IIGCC.

2.6  A divestment strategy would bring such engagement to an end and remove 
the Fund’s ability to positively influence climate-resilient policies and business 
strategies. Divestment would bring its own, difficult to quantify, risks and costs.  
It would require the Fund to sell assets (although there is no definitive list of 
fossil fuel investments) in volatile market conditions; at a time when the exact 
nature and timing of regulatory change is uncertain and commodity prices are 
highly variable (particularly oil). Over the medium term, fossil fuels will continue 

http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-09-29/carney-urges-g-20-to-act-on-stability-risks-from-climate-change
http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/sep/23/millions-of-uk-public-sector-pensions-exposed-to-risky-fossil-fuel-investments
http://www.lapfforum.org/about-us
http://www.iigcc.org/


to be widely used in the economy (and not just as part of the energy mix) and it 
would prove challenging to re-invest at scale the proceeds of divestment into 
low carbon alternatives. 

2.7 The Fund is directly investing in the low carbon economy through its allocations 
to infrastructure, private equity and property. This includes investment in 
renewable energy, clean technology and sustainable buildings; with in excess 
of £200 million presently committed and set to increase as opportunities with a 
suitable risk/return profile continue to be evaluated by the Fund’s internal team.

2.8 While full divestment of all fossil fuel-related investments within five years may 
be viewed as incompatible with the Fund’s strategic objectives and fiduciary 
obligations, further climate risk strategies could be explored within the 
parameters of the current strategic asset allocation and manager mix. 
Members are asked to authorise Officers to further explore the following 
options (with particular regard to the costs and practicalities of implementation):

 Enhanced disclosure in line with the UN Montreal Pledge (portfolio carbon foot-
printing)

 Explore options to de-carbonise passive equities
 Sign up to the Portfolio Decarbonisation Coalition; setting explicit reduction 

targets 

By signing up to the Montreal Carbon Pledge, the Fund would commit to 
measure and publicly disclose the carbon footprint of its investments on an 
annual basis. This would initially apply to some or all of the Fund’s equity 
portfolios, but could in time be extended to other asset classes such as private 
equity and infrastructure. The aim of the Pledge is to gather commitments on 
investments totalling US$ 3 trillion in time for COP21 in December 2015. On 
the basis that what is measured can be managed, the use of carbon foot-
printing would enable the Fund to better quantify its climate risks and 
disclosure would improve communication with stake-holders of actions being 
taken to address climate change (as well as enhancing the Fund’s capability to 
meet its reporting and transparency obligations as a PRI signatory).  Improved 
reporting could also include making public more information about the Fund’s 
low carbon investments in areas such as renewable energy and sustainable 
property.

Within the present strategic benchmark allocation to public equities, one 
quarter of this is managed in passive strategies (where the aim is to track the 
performance of the benchmark indices, achieving exposure to the broad 
market). The indices used by the Fund (FTSE All Share & FTSE North 
America) are comprised of stocks weighted in the index by their market 
capitalisation and feature significant concentrations of climate risk (such as oil 
& gas companies with large fossil fuel reserves). Arguably, this represents a 
large unrewarded risk of permanent loss of capital. There are now viable 
strategies for adapting passive equity portfolios to reduce their climate risk 
exposure (de-carbonisation) while maintaining the required broad market 
exposure. There is evidence to suggest that significant carbon footprint 
reduction can be achieved for a slight (but tolerable) increase in tracking error.

http://www.unpri.org/signatories/signatories/
http://unepfi.org/pdc/resources-2/


The Portfolio Decarbonisation Coalition (PDC) is an action-oriented investor 
initiative whose members have made an explicit commitment to both thorough 
carbon foot-printing and specific portfolio de-carbonisation targets. With current 
commitments representing US$60 billion of assets under management, the aim 
is to reach by the time of COP21 a target of US$100 billion committed to be de-
carbonised. Asset owners in the UK already signed on include Environment 
Agency Pension Fund. The Fund may defer committing to an explicit carbon 
reduction target at the outset, pending analysis of a carbon foot-printing 
exercise.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Climate change is a systemic risk to the ecological, societal and financial 

stability of every economy and country on the planet. Global business and 
policy leaders take climate change seriously and renewed policy actions will 
seek to restrict warming to the two degrees target by 2100. This will have 
significant investment implications that must be prudently addressed 
(Merseyside Pension Fund has liabilities that extend past 2100). 

3.2 Campaign groups are raising public awareness of the investment risks of 
climate change. The Fund has a strong track record of activity to address this 
issue, but there is a reputational risk in not effectively communicating this to all 
stakeholders. 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report. There 

are no implications for partner organisations arising from this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report.  The initiatives set out will have 

a financial cost should they be implemented. 

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

http://unepfi.org/pdc/


10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications in reference to Wirral Council’s own 

carbon reduction plans. 

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 Members are asked to reaffirm the commitment to responsible investment 

and to approve further investigation of alternative investment approaches to 
climate risk mitigation and adaptation.

13.2 That a further report is brought to this Committee providing more information 
on the implications of alternative investment approaches to climate risk 
mitigation and adaptation.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1

REPORT AUTHOR: Owen Thorne
Investment Officer
telephone : 0151 242 1301
email : owenthorne@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), ‘Pension Fund Investments in Fossil 
Fuels’, 2015

Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC), ‘Global Investor Statement 
on Climate Change’, September 2014

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

mailto:owenthorne@wirral.gov.uk


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee 28/09/2015



 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2015  Private & Confidential 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Summary 

The Forum is aware of the emerging research regarding stranded assets which addresses 
the fundamental concerns over continued fossil fuel extraction, this is an issue we 
recognise as an a collective investment risk for all asset owners and is an engagement and 
policy priority.   

LAPFF’s current approach, in common with many of our member funds, is that robust 
engagement on a collective basis with companies is preferable to placing restrictions on 
particular types of investment.  

2014-2015 saw a significant rise in international campaigns aimed at a range of asset 
owners including university endowment funds, pension funds and banks. In 2015, the 
campaigns have gained additional prominence with some high profile divestment decisions: 
the Church of England announced withdrawing investments in companies involved in 
thermal coal and tar sand extraction and the Guardian Media Group announcing plans to 
withdraw from investments in coal, oil and gas companies. The Norwegian Sovereign 
Wealth Fund (GPF) has also announced plans to reduce its portfolio exposure to coal 
assets.  

Several LAPFF member funds have received requests asking for clarification or information 
on the fund’s position on fossil fuel investments as well as information on actual holdings. 
Some requests have asked for information on how the fund has considered the risk of 
certain investments having the potential to be 'stranded assets'.  

 

LAPFF Engagement 

The Forum has long been concerned about climate and carbon related risks to the 
underlying investment portfolios of member funds and has been engaging with companies 
and on public policy since 2002 to address the many risks related to climate change. 

LAPFF does not comment on individual investment policies of its members, but considers 
active engagement with companies producing fossil fuels as a productive approach to 
effecting change.  

The approach of direct and collaborative engagement contrasts with blanket divestment. 
Once an asset owner divests, their ability to influence both the short and long-term direction 
of individual companies and the national and international energy sector is severely 
curtailed.  

 

 

 

Pension Fund Investments in Fossil Fuels: 
Guidance for Members for divestment 
enquiries 



Fossil Fuel Investments: Update for Members, July 2015 

 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2015  1 

An example of engagement is the coordination undertaken with member funds to co-file 
and support shareholder resolutions to both the BP and Shell 2015 AGMs on strategic 
resilience for 2035 and beyond. The resolutions ask the companies to report on their 
operational emissions management; asset portfolio resilience to the International Energy 
Agency’s (IEA’s) scenarios; low-carbon energy research and development (R&D) and 
investment strategies; relevant strategic key performance indicators (KPIs) and executive 
incentives; and public policy positions relating to climate change. 

The resolutions were intended to be supportive but also stretching. The ‘stretching’ element 
for most fossil-fuel companies is to set out their business strategy in alignment with 
remaining within a two degree increase in global temperature, one of the range of IEA 
scenarios. 

The resolutions followed a long process of engagement with the companies on climate 
risks, stranded assets and reporting this in the context of their business models. The AGM 
resolutions were supported by both companies, carried by record margins and prompted 
Swedish pension funds to file a similar resolution at Norwegian Statoil which also carried by 
a record margin.  

Subsequently EU based oil and gas companies have raised their profile in calling for a 
global carbon pricing regime and more investment in low carbon energy sources, on the 
back of heightened shareholder support.  

The Forum has also supported resolutions encouraging Chevron and Exxon to set carbon 
reduction targets and at Chevron to reduce capital expenditure on high cost, 
unconventional projects and increase the amount authorised for distribution to shareholders 
in the form of dividends as a climate risk hedging mechanism.   

Encouraging appropriate regulatory frameworks is also crucial. A recent example is the 
Forum’s participation in correspondence from global asset owners and managers to the G7 
leaders urging stronger action by major industrial nations on emissions, and climate action.  

This combination of individual engagements at corporate level, working with investor 
coalitions and adding to institutional investor voices engaging with international forums is at 
this stage the most effective approach in giving voice to Forum members concerns on 
climate and carbon.  

LAPFF also works in cooperation with other investors and organisations to maximise the 
voice of asset owners including its membership of the Aiming for A Investor Coalition, 
collaborative engagement with the Investor Network on Climate Risk (INCR) and being a 
signatory to the Principles for Responsible Investment.   

As set out in the Forum’s Statement on Climate Change ‘LAPFF members are interested in 
investment opportunities afforded by a low-carbon future which increase diversification and 
provide long-term returns’. As agreed by members in June 2015, the Forum’s engagement 
strategy requiring companies to identify and tackle carbon risks in their business models will 
be developed further to push for an orderly carbon transition.  

A range of material on climate change risk and disclosure for members illustrating LAPFF 
action, support and guidance is available at http://www.lapfforum.org/members-
folder/member-resources/issue-briefs-1. Relevant voting alerts can be found at 
http://www.lapfforum.org/members-folder/voting-alerts-1.  



We, the institutional investors that are signatories to this Statement, are acutely aware of the risks climate 
change presents to our investments. In addition, we recognise that signifi cant capital will be needed to 
fi nance the transition to a low carbon economy and to enable society to adapt to the physical impacts of 
climate change.

We are particularly concerned that gaps, weaknesses and delays in climate change and clean energy 
policies will increase the risks to our investments as a result of the physical impacts of climate change, and 
will increase the likelihood that more radical policy measures will be required to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. In turn, this could jeopardise the investments and retirement savings of millions of citizens.

There is a signifi cant gap between the amount of capital that will be required to fi nance the transition to 
a low carbon and climate resilient economy and the amount currently being invested. For example, while 
current investments in clean energy alone are approximately $250 billion per year, the International Energy 
Agency has estimated that limiting the increase in global temperature to two degrees Celsius above pre-
industrial levels requires average additional investments in clean energy of at least $1 trillion per year 
between now and 2050. 

This Statement sets out the contribution that we as investors can make to increasing low carbon and 
climate resilient investments. It off ers practical proposals on how our contribution may be accelerated and 
increased through appropriate government action. 

Stronger political leadership and more ambitious policies are needed in order for us to scale up our 
investments. We believe that well designed and implemented policies would encourage us to invest 
signifi cantly more in areas such as renewable energy, energy effi  ciency, sustainable land use and climate 
resilient development, thereby benefi tting our clients and benefi ciaries, and society as a whole.

HOW WE CAN CONTRIBUTE
As institutional investors and consistent with our fi duciary duty to our benefi ciaries, we will:

 ■ Work with policy makers to support and inform their eff orts to develop and implement policy 
measures that encourage capital deployment at scale to fi nance the transition to a low carbon 
economy and encourage investment in climate change adaptation.

 ■ Identify and evaluate low carbon investment opportunities that meet our investment criteria and 
consider investment vehicles that invest in low carbon assets subject to our risk and return objectives.

 ■ Develop our capacity to assess the risks and opportunities presented by climate change and climate 
policy to our investment portfolios, integrate, where appropriate, this information into our investment 
decisions.

2014 GLOBAL INVESTOR STATEMENT 
ON CLIMATE CHANGE

Developed by the following groups

UNDER EMBARGO UNTIL 23 SEPTEMBER 2014



 ■ Work with the companies in which we invest to ensure that they are minimising and disclosing the 
risks and maximising the opportunities presented by climate change and climate policy. 

 ■ Continue to report on the actions we have taken and the progress we have made in addressing 
climate risk and investing in areas such as renewable energy, energy effi  ciency and climate change 
adaptation.

SCALING UP INVESTMENT: THE NEED FOR POLICY ACTION
We call on governments to develop an ambitious global agreement on climate change by the end of 
2015. This would give investors the confi dence to support and accelerate the investments in low-carbon 
technologies, in energy effi  ciency and in climate change adaptation. 

Ultimately, in order to deliver real changes in investment fl ows, international policy commitments need to 
be implemented into national laws and regulations. These policies must provide appropriate incentives to 
invest, be of adequate duration to improve certainty to investors in long-term infrastructure investments 
and avoid retroactive impact on existing investments. 

We, therefore, call on governments to:

 ■ Provide stable, reliable and economically meaningful carbon pricing that helps redirect investment 
commensurate with the scale of the climate change challenge.

 ■ Strengthen regulatory support for energy effi  ciency and renewable energy, where this is needed to 
facilitate deployment.

 ■ Support innovation in and deployment of low carbon technologies, including fi nancing clean energy 
research and development.

 ■ Develop plans to phase out subsidies for fossil fuels.
 ■ Ensure that national adaptation strategies are structured to deliver investment.
 ■ Consider the eff ect of unintended constraints from fi nancial regulations on investments in low carbon 

technologies and in climate resilience. 

ABOUT UNEP FI
UNEP FI is a global partnership between UNEP and the fi nancial sector. 
Over 200 institutions, including banks, insurers and fund managers, 
work with UNEP to understand the impacts of environmental and 
social considerations on fi nancial performance. Through its Climate 
Change Advisory Group (CCAG), UNEP FI aims to understand the 
roles, potentials and needs of the fi nance sector in addressing climate 
change, and to advance the integration of climate change factors - 
both risks and opportunities – into fi nancial decision-making. Visit 
www.unepfi .org.

ABOUT IIGCC
The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) is a forum 
for collaboration on climate change for investors.  IIGCC’s network 
includes over 90 members, with some of the largest pension funds and 
asset managers in Europe, representing €7.5trillion in assets.  IIGCC’s 
mission is to provide investors a common voice to encourage public 
policies, investment practices and corporate behaviour which address 
long-term risks and opportunities associated with climate change. Visit 
www.iigcc.org. 

ABOUT INCR
The Investor Network on Climate Risk (INCR) is a North America-
focused network of institutional investors dedicated to addressing the 
fi nancial risks and investment opportunities posed by climate change 
and other sustainability challenges. INCR currently has more than 100 
members representing over $13 trillion in assets. INCR is a project of 
Ceres, a nonprofi t advocate for sustainability leadership that mobilizes 
investors, companies and public interest groups to accelerate and 
expand the adoption of sustainable business practices and solutions to 
build a healthy global economy. Visit www.ceres.org.

ABOUT IGCC
IGCC is a collaboration of 65 Australian and New Zealand institutional 
investors and advisors, managing approximately $1 trillion and 
focussing on the impact that climate change has on the fi nancial value 
of investments. The IGCC aims to encourage government policies 
and investment practices that address the risks and opportunities of 
climate change, for the ultimate benefi t of superannuants and unit 
holders. Visit www.igcc.org.au.

ABOUT AIGCC
The Asia Investor Group on Climate Change (AIGCC) is an initiative 
set up by the Association for Sustainable and Responsible Investment 
in Asia (ASrIA) to create awareness among Asia’s asset owners and 
fi nancial institutions about the risks and opportunities associated 
with climate change and low carbon investing. AIGCC provides 
capacity for investors to share best practice and to collaborate on 
investment activity, credit analysis, risk management, engagement 
and policy. With a strong international profi le and signifi cant network, 
including pension, sovereign wealth funds insurance companies and 
fund managers, AIGCC represents the Asian voice in the evolving 
global discussions on climate change and the transition to a greener 
economy. Visit www.asria.org/page/aigcc_about.

ABOUT PRI
The United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment 
(PRI) Initiative is an international network of investors working 
together to put the six Principles for Responsible Investment into 
practice. Its goal is to understand the implications of Environmental, 
Social and Governance issues (ESG) for investors and support 
signatories to incorporate these issues into their investment decision 
making and ownership practices. In implementing the Principles, 
signatories contribute to the development of a more sustainable 
global fi nancial system. Visit www.unpri.org.

UNDER EMBARGO UNTIL 23 SEPTEMBER 2014



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

16 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: MONITORING/TRAINING AND GIFTS AND 
HOSPITALITY

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members with a summary of monitoring/training events 

attended by officers of the Fund and details of gifts and hospitality received 
over the past 12 months.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 In November 2012, this Committee approved new guidance in relation to the 

declaration of gifts and hospitality received by officers and those members of 
Committee that are not otherwise subject to personal conduct arrangements.

2.2 The guidance is reflected by Wirral in its overall governance arrangements 
and is set out in the Fund’s Compliance Manual last approved March 2014, 
reflecting the practicalities of the Pension Fund’s business needs.

2.3 Appendix 1 provides a schedule of declarations from October 2014 to 
September 2015.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 It is important that the Fund has clear guidelines and that officers’ activities 

are subject to review by Committee.

3.2 A failure to recognise and allow for the differences of the Fund’s business 
activities may inhibit the Fund’s training and monitoring arrangements and 
incur additional cost.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 



5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report. There 
are no implications for partner organisations arising from this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Committee notes the report.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 It is important that the Fund has clear guidelines and that officers’ activities 

are subject to review by Committee to ensure transparency.

REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith
Group Accountant
telephone (0151) 2421312
email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1Register of Gifts and Hospitality
Appendix 2 Register of CPD/Training



BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee

Pensions Committee

Pensions Committee

Pensions Committee

17 November 2014

19 November 2013

24 June 2013

20 November 2012





! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21

Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review

GREGG 
CAMPBELL

LUNCH £35.00 KNIGHTSBRIDGE 2 OCT 14 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

LUNCH £30.00 KNIGHTSBRIDGE 2 OCT 14 NO YES

PETER 
WALLACH

ANNUAL DINNER 
INVITATION TO ALL 
CLIENTS OF SSGA.  
REPRESENTING 
MPF TO MEET 
WITH SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT AT 
ANNUAL EVENT

£50.00 STATE STREET 11 NOV 14 NO YES

DONNA SMITH CIPFA PENSIONS 
NETWORK, PRE-
CONFERENCE 
DINNER 11/11/14

UNKNOWN CIPFA 08 OCT 14 NO DECLINED

LINDA 
DESFORGES

DINNER – 
OPPORTUNITY TO 
MEET SENIOR 
PARTNERS AND 
OTHER 
INVESTMENT 
PROFESSIONALS.

£35.00 CARLYLE GROUP 17 NOV 14 NO YES

GREG 
CAMPBELL

LUNCH – 
BACKGROUND 
INFO AND 
COURTESY

£40.00 SCOTTS COVE 20 NOV 14 NO YES



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21
Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review

LEYLAND 
OTTER

THORNTON’S 
CHOCOLATE - GIFT 
SENT INTO OFFICE

£25.00 CAPITAL 
DYNAMICS

17 DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY

LEYLAND 
OTTER

LUNCH - CLIENT 
HOSPITALITY AT 
WORKING LUNCH 
MEETING

£25-30 HANJO FUND 16 DEC 14 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

LUNCH – CLIENT 
HOSPITALITY 
FOLLOWING 
STRATEGY 
MEETING

£25-30 CBRE 11 DEC 14 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

DINNER – 
ADVISORY BOARD 
MEETING

£25-30 KNIGHTSBRIDGE 8 DEC 14 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

LUNCH AT ANNUAL 
MEETING

£25.00 KNIGHTSBRIDGE 9 DEC 14 NO YES

PETER 
WALLACH

LUNCH 
FOLLOWING 
QUARTERLY 
STRATEGY 
MEETING

£35.00 CBRE 11 DEC 14 NO YES



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21
Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review

GREG 
CAMPBELL

BOTTLE OF WINE – 
SENT BY COURIER

£80 P. TESTA ONE 
INVESTMENTS

DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY

PETER 
WALLACH

BOOK ‘THE MOST 
BEATIFUL 
LIBRARIES IN THE 
WORLD’ – 
DELIVERED TO 
OFFICE.

£30.00 UNIGESTION 17 DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY

LINDA 
DESFORGES

BOOK £30.00 UNIGESTION DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY

LINDA 
DESFORGES

CHOCOLATES £25.00 CAPITAL 
DYNAMICS

DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY

PETER 
WALLACH

CHOCOLATES £25.00 AMUNDI 18 DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21
Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review

PETER 
WALLACH

CHRISTMAS 
HAMPER

£60.00 NOMURA 18 DEC 14 NO YES RAFFLED 
WITH 
POCEEDS 
GOING TO 
CHARITY

PETER 
WALLACH

INVITATION TO 
CHELSEA FLOWER 
SHOW

£100.00 DARWIN IM 23 JAN 15 NO DECLINED

PETER 
WALLACH

LUNCH £27.00 PIONEER 23 JAN 15 NO YES

PETER 
WALLACH

INVITATION TO SIX 
NATIONS RUGBY

£30.00 WINTON 5 FEB 15 NO DECLINED

PETER 
WALLACH

INVITATION TO 
CHELSEA FLOWER 
SHOW

£100.00 M&G 13 FEB 15 NO DECLINED

PETER 
WALLACH

LUNCH £35.00 INVESCO 17 FEB 15 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

LUNCH £15-20 ORIEL 
SECURITIES

3 FEB 15 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

DINNER – EVENT 
FOLLOWING APAX 
AGM

£30.00 APAX PARTNERS 31 MAR 15 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

LUNCH 
FOLLOWING 
MEETING

£20.00 CAPITAL 
DYNAMICS

26 MAR 15 NO YES



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21
Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review

GREG 
CAMPBELL

LUNCH £38.00 LOMBARD ODIER 29 APR 15 NO YES

PETER 
WALLACH

INVITATION TO 
ROYAL ACADEMY 
OF ARTS ON 9 
JUNE.

£50.00 BNY 21 APR 15 NO DECLINED

PETER 
WALLACH

INVITATION TO UK 
PENSION AWARDS 
ON 7 MAY

£100.00 STANDARD LIFE 21 APR 15 NO DECLINED

PETER 
WALLACH

INVITATION TO 
ROYAL ACADEMY 
OF ARTS ON 1 
JUNE

£50.00 UNIGESTION 22 APR 15 NO DECLINED

PETER 
WALLACH

DINNER AT NAPF 
LOCAL AUTHORITY 
CONFERENCE

£40.00 LAPF 18 MAY 15 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

WORKING LUNCH 
PROVIDING AN 
UPDATE ON MPF’s 
INVESTMENTS IN 
THE 
KNIGHTBRIDGE 
VENTURE CAPITAL 
FUNDS.

£30.00 KNIGHTSBRIDGE 2 JUN 15 NO YES

PETER 
WALLACH

UPDATE OF OUR 
MANDATE AND 
RETIREMENT OF 
OUR ACCOUNT 
MANAGER.

£30.00 NOMURA 20 AUG 15 NO YES



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21
Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review

PETER 
WALLACH

LGC 
CONFERENCE, 
NEWPORT – 
SPONSORS OF 
CONFERENCE.  
ATTENDED WITH 
PENSION 
COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS.

£30.00 L&G 9 SEP 15 NO YES

SUSANNAH 
FRIAR

DINNER, 
NETWOEKING 
AFTER MEETING 
WITH CENTURY 
BRIDGE AND 
INVESTMENT 
MANAGER

£30.00 AVEC CAPITAL RE 
CENTURY 
BRIDGE

24 SEP 15 NO YES

SUSANNAH 
FRIAR

DINNER BEFORE 
IPE 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
CONFERENCE 
WITH SPONSOR

£35.00 KGAL CAPITAL 10 SEP 15 NO YES

LEYLAND 
OTTER

BUSINESS 
LUNCH/MEETING

£25-30 SVP GLOBAL 24 SEP 15 YES YES



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF GIFTS & HOSPITALITY

M21
Department : TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES Section : MPF

All offers of gifts and hospitality should be registered, whether or not they have been accepted. Officers should not accept such offers except in 
very limited circumstances. It is a criminal offence to accept money, gifts or hospitality in return for special favours.

Officer's 
Name

Nature of Gift / 
Hospitality

Value of 
Offer

Donor 
Organisation

Date of 
Offer

Organisation 
Seeking 

Work: Yes / 
No

Offer 
Accepted: 
Yes / No

Disposal 
Arrangements

Senior Officer 
Review: 

Signature

Date of 
Review





! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF CPD /TRAINING

Department : Transformation & Resources, MPF
Officer's Name Description/Nature of Event Sponsor/Arranger Date of Event

YVONNE CADDOCK NAPF CONFERENCE & GALA DINNER.  TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT AS 
PART OF THE WIDER CONFERENCE PROGRAMME

NAPF 16 OCT 14

GREG CAMPBELL NAPF CONFERENCE & GALA DINNER.  TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT AS 
PART OF THE WIDER CONFERENCE PROGRAMME

NAPF 16 OCT 14

PETER WALLACH CIPFA PENSIONS NETWORK EVENT – MANAGING CHANGE IN THE 
LGPS.  MPF IS A MEMBER OF THE NETWORK.  UPDATE ON CURRENT 
GOVERNMENT CHANGES IN LGPS.  LUNCH AND REFRESHMENTS 
PROVDED.

CIPFA 10 OCT 14

DONNA SMITH NAPF CONFERENCE & GALA DINNER.  TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT AS 
PART OF THE WIDER CONFERENCE PROGRAMME

NAPF 16 OCT 14

OWEN THORNE DINNERS HELD BY INVITATION IN LIVERPOOL FOR DELEGATES 
ATTENDING THE NAPF CONFERENCE

SPS EVENT, FTSE GROUP, 
NAPF

14 - 16 OCT 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR NAPF CONFERENCE & GALA DINNER.  ATTENDANCE AT 
CONFERENCE, DINNERS – INCLUDING GALA DINNER.  TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT, NETWORKING.

NAPF 16 OCT 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR SPS CONFERENCE.  ANNUAL EVENT TO DISCUSS TOPICAL ISSUES. SPS 9 OCT 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR INFRASTRUCTURE CONFERENCE TO DISCUSS TOPICAL ISSUES – 
NETWORKING EVENT

ALT ASSETS 7 OCT 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR REAL ESTATE SEMINAR 2014 AVIVA 4 NOV 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR INTRODUCTION TO REAL ASSETS CBRE GLOBAL INVESTORS 12 NOV 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR PROPERTY CONFERENCE 2014 ABERDEEN 4 NOV 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR GLOBAL REAL ASSETS CONFERENCE JP MORGAN 5 – 6 NOV 14

PETER WALLACH DARWIN’S LOCAL AUTHORITY CONFERENCE.  SPEAKER AT EVENT – 
MEAL, REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.

DARWIN PROPERTY 
INVESTMENT MEETING

4 Nov 14

PETER WALLACH CIPFA PENSIONS NETWORK CONFERENCE ‘FUTURE DIRECTION OF 
THE LGPS’ – MEAL REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.

CIPFA 12 NOV 14

PETER WALLACH SPS CONFERENCE, ‘CURRENT ISSUES FOR PENSION FUNDS’ MEAL – 
REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.

SPS 11 NOV 14



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF CPD /TRAINING

Department : Transformation & Resources, MPF
Officer's Name Description/Nature of Event Sponsor/Arranger Date of Event

DONNA SMITH CIPFA PENSIONS ANNUAL CONFERENCE, ATTENDED CONFERENCE – 
LUNCH & REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED – OPEN TO ALL DELEGATES.

CIPFA 12 NOV 14

PETER WALLACH LAPFF ANNUAL CONFERENCE, ‘PRODUCTIVE INVESTMENT: PUBLIC 
FUNDS AND PUBLIC PURPOSE’.  MEALS, REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.

LAPFF/PIRC 3 – 5 DEC 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR REAL ESTATE CONFERENCE.  TO DISCUSS GLOBAL PROPERTY AND 
NETWORKING.

ALT ASSETS 2 DEC 14

SUSANNAH FRIAR INVESTIO RESIDENTIAL, DEVELOPING MULTI FAMILY APARTMENTS 
BASED ON US MODEL EXPERIENCE.

EDU PENSION 21 JAN 15

LEYLAND OTTER LGPS INVESTMENT CONFERENCE, ANNUAL EVENT LAPF STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT FORUM

5 FEB 15

LEYLAND OTTER SPS INVESTMENT STRATEGY FOR PENSION FUNDS, REGULAR 
INVESTMENT EVENT PROVIDER

SPS 12 FEB 15

OWEN THORNE ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION ON ESG INTEGRATION IN FIXED INCOME 
STRATEGIES.  OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS ESG RELATED 
INVESTMENT ISSUES WITH INDUSTRY PEERS.

CITYWIRE 19 FEB 15

PETER WALLACH ANNUAL EUROPEAN PENSION CONFERENCE. PRESENTATION ON 
INFRASTRUCTURE.  TRAVEL, ACCOMMODATION, MEALS, 
REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.  SPEAKER – ATTENDED PREVIOUSLY. 
USEFUL UPDATE ON PENSIONS INDUSTRY.

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR 3 – 6 FEB 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR ANNUAL MEETING.  PRESENTATION ON PERFORMANCE OF FUNDS. 
TO HEAR INVITED GUESTS SPEAKING.

PARTNERS GROUP 17 – 20 MAR 15

PETER WALLACH ANNUAL INVESTOR CONFERENCE INCLUDING MEALS, MPF IS A 
CLIENT OF BNY MELLON

BNY MELLON 26 MAR 15

PETER WALLACH ANNUAL INVESTOR CONFERENCE INCLUDING ACCOMMODATION AND 
MEALS, MPF IS A CLIENT OF SSgA

SSgA 19 20 MAR 15

PETER WALLACH ANNUAL FIDUCIARY INVESTORS SYMPOSIUM AS A SPEAKER. 
PRESENTATION ON INFRASTRUCTURE.  MEALS, REFRESHMENTS, 
ETC PROVIDED.  USEFUL UPDATE ON PENSIONS INDUSTRY AND TO 
MEET WITH OTHER LGPS FUNDS.

TOP 1000 FUNDS 20 – 21 APR 15

LINDA DESFORGES ANNUAL INVESTOR MEETING, LUNCH, UPDATE ON PROGRESS OF 
PRIVATE EQUITY FUNDS.  CHANCE TO MEET OTHER INVESTORS.

SL CAPITAL 5 MAY 15



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF CPD /TRAINING

Department : Transformation & Resources, MPF
Officer's Name Description/Nature of Event Sponsor/Arranger Date of Event

LINDA DESFORGES ANNUAL INVESTOR MEETING, INSIGHTS ON HEDGE FUND INVESTING.  
OPPORTUNITY TO MEET WITH THE WINTON INVESTMENTS 
PROFESSIONALS AND OTHER HEDGE FUND INVESTORS.

WINTON CAPITAL 21 MAY 15

LINDA DESFORGES FIXED INCOME ROUND TABLE, LUNCH.  MET WITH FIXED INCOME 
SPECIALIST FROM NUEBERGER BERMAND TO DISCUSS 
OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS IN THE MARKET.  CHANCE TO MEET 
OTHER PENSION FUND INVESTORS.

NUEBERGER BERMAN 13 MAY 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR ANNUAL REAL ESTATE MEETING HOTEL EUROPEAN FUND MPF 
INVESTED PLUS VIEWS ON REAL ESTATE.  ACCOMMODATION PAID BY 
INVESCO FOR ALL INVESTORS PLUS TRANSFERS FROM LONDON 
EUSTON AND INVESCO OFFICE.

INVESCO - MARLOW 11 – 13 MAY 15

PETER WALLACH NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PENSION FUNDS LOCAL AUTHORITY 
CONFERENCE AS SPEAKER.  PRESENTATION ON SMART BETA.  
ACCOMMODATION, MEALS, REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.  ATTENDED 
WITH ELECTED MEMBER.  APPROVED ELEMENT OF TRAINING PLAN.

NAPF 18 – 20 MAY 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR ANNUAL MEETING FOR EUROPEAN REAL ESTATE FUND III – TO 
DISCUSS PROGRESS OF FUND AND ITS ASSETS TO DATE.  
ACCOMMODATION PAID BY JP MORGAN FOR ALL INVESTORS WHO 
ATTENDED.

JP MORGAN 3 – 5 JUN 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR ANNUAL MEETINGS TO DISCUSS WINDING UP OF FUND III AND 
INVESTMENTS PURCHASED FOR FUND IV AND BERLIN MARKET BY 
CBRE.  ACCOMMODATION PAID BY EUROPA FOR ALL INVESTOS WHO 
ATTENDED PLUS AIRPORT TRANSFERS.

EUROPA CAPITAL 15 – 17 JUN 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR ANNUAL CONFERENCE PROPERTY AND INFRASTRUCTURE, ALREADY 
IN LONDON THEREFORE ATTEND DAY 1.  CREATING REAL VALUE 
CONFERENCE.  MPF INVESTED IN INFRASTRUCTURE.

INFRA RED 24 JUN 15

LINDA DESFORGES 2015 ANNUAL INVESTOR MEETING – UPDATE ON FUND (ASIA VI).  
MEETINGS WITH MANAGERS.  NETWORKING WITH OTHER 
INVESTORS.  HOTEL x 1 NIGHT, LUNCH x 2 DINNER x 1

PANTHEON 17 JUN 15

PETER WALLACH IPE GLOBAL ASSET ALLOCATION CONFERENCE AS A SPEAKER.  
PRESENTATION ON MPF’S ASSET ALLOCATION.  RELEVANT SUBJECT 
MATTER.
TRAVEL, ACCOMMODATION, MEALS, REFRESHMENTS PROVIDED.

IPE 11 – 12 JUN 15



! Metropolitan
Borough of Wirral REGISTER OF CPD /TRAINING

Department : Transformation & Resources, MPF
Officer's Name Description/Nature of Event Sponsor/Arranger Date of Event

PETER WALLACH CIPFA CONFERENCE LUNCH REFRESHMENT PROVIDED.  INDUSTRY 
PROFESSIONAL BODY.  RELEVANT SUBJECT MATTER. MET WITH 
OTHER LGPS FUNDS.

CIPFA 7 JUL 15

PETER WALLACH LGC INVESTMENT SUMMIT, ACCOMPANIED ELECTED MEMBERS TO 
RECOGNISED CONFERENCE ON ANNUAL TRAINING AGENDA.

LGC 9 – 10 SEP 15

PETER WALLACH BIENNIAL CLIENT INVESTMENT CONFERENCE.  TRAVEL, 
ACCOMMODATION AND MEALS ETC PROVIDED.

UNIGESTION 30 SEP – 2 OCT 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR INVESTMENT CONFERENCE FIDELITY 25 SEP 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR INFRASTRUCTURE CONFERENCE TO ANALYSE LATEST TRENDS; NEW 
INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITIES; RISKS AND PITFALLS OF OTHER 
INVESTORS

LP LG CONNECT 22 SEP 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR CONFERENCE REAL ESTATE AND INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT 
STRATEGIES FOR PENSION FUNDS

IPE 11 SEP 15

SUSANNAH FRIAR ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT STRATEGIES CONFERENCE SPS 10 SEP 15



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

16 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report sets out proposed changes to authorised signatories at 

Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) following the retirement of the Head of 
Business Processes.

1.2 This report describes the different requirements for various institutions and 
functions, including the banks, custodian, and overseas pensions payment 
agent, as well as the granting of power of attorney where appropriate.

1.3 This report also forms a part of the Fund’s scheme of delegation and sets out 
the management and authorisation arrangements, for the avoidance of doubt 
by organisations undertaking due diligence on MPF as an investee company 
or as a financial services provider, or for purposes of overseas jurisdiction.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The current approved signatories are:

Strategic Director Transformation & Resources Joe Blott
Director of Resources Vacant
Head of Financial Services Thomas W. Sault
Head of Business Processes Malcolm J. Flanagan
Principal Pensions Officer Yvonne M. Caddock
Operations Manager Guy W. Hayton
Group Accountant Donna Smith
Member Services Manager Margaret M. Rourke
Member Services Manager Susan J. Roberts

2.2 As officers leave employment of Wirral Council, they are removed from the 
signatory list and accounts are deleted from any electronic systems 
immediately.



2.3 Approval is requested for the following signatories:

Strategic Director Transformation & Resources Joe Blott
Director of Resources Vacant
Head of Financial Services Thomas W. Sault
Principal Pensions Officer Yvonne M. Caddock
Operations Manager Guy W. Hayton
Group Accountant Donna Smith
Member Services Manager Margaret M. Rourke
Member Services Manager Susan J. Roberts

2.4 These responsibilities will include powers to open, close and amend bank 
accounts; authorise instructions for payment of benefits and for investment 
transactions; sign manual cheques and countersign cheques over £10,000 in 
respect of accounts with the Fund’s bankers (Lloyds Banking Group), with the 
Global Custodian (Northern Trust), and with other financial institutions 
including those detailed in the Fund’s Treasury Management Strategy. The 
officers will also be authorised to sign investment documentation.

2.5 For reasons of internal control, the following officers are empowered to 
authorise investment decisions and relevant investment documentation 
including confirming settlement arrangements, but without powers to 
authorise the transfer of monies through the electronic banking/Custodian 
system:

Head of Pension Fund Peter J. Wallach
Senior Investment Manager Leyland K. Otter
Investment Manager Linda Desforges

2.6 Other officers can make investment decisions up to their limits as specified in 
the Compliance Manual approved by Pensions Committee, 24 March 2014.

2.7 Authorisation of the monthly pension payroll is undertaken by approved 
authorised signatories based at MPF.

2.8 For the avoidance of doubt, the Strategic Director Transformation and 
Resources can designate officers of MPF to exercise powers of attorney on 
behalf of MPF and Wirral Council. Any two of the following officers of MPF 
may exercise powers of attorney on behalf of MPF and Wirral Council:

Head of Pension Fund Peter J. Wallach
Senior Investment Manager Leyland K. Otter
Investment Manager Linda Desforges
Principal Pensions Officer Yvonne M. Caddock
Group Accountant Donna Smith

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 It is essential that the Fund maintains strong internal controls and that 

arrangements which designate those individuals who may authorise 
transactions are clearly documented. Without the appropriate number of 



authorising officers, there is a risk of delayed transactions and settlement of 
trades. This could manifest itself both as financial risk, as there could be a 
cost due to delayed transactions and settlements, and as a reputational risk 
to MPF in financial markets.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report. There 

are no implications for partner organisations arising from this report.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members approve the arrangements set out in section 2 of this report in 

relation to the internal control arrangements at Merseyside Pension Fund.

13.2 That Members approve the officers designated in section 2 of this report as 
authorised signatories for Merseyside Pensions Fund.



14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 Following the retirement of the Head of Business Processes it is necessary to 

update the list of authorised signatories.

REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith
Group Accountant
telephone (0151) 2421312
email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Pensions Committee

Pensions Committee

Cabinet

Cabinet

17 November 2014

19 November 2013

18 October 2012

15 March 2012



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
16 OCTOBER 2015

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE INVESTMENT

MONITORING WORKING PARTY 

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

TRANSFORMATION AND RESOURCES

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with the minutes of the 

Investment Monitoring Working Party (IMWP) held on 17 September 2015 
and 8 October 2015.

1.2 The appendices to the report, the minutes of the IMWP on 17 September 
2015 and 8 October 2015, contain exempt information. This is by virtue of 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, i.e. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information).

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The IMWP meets at least six times a year to enable Members and their 

advisors to consider investment matters, relating to Merseyside Pension 
Fund, in greater detail.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 There are none arising from this report.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report.  

There are no implications for partner organisations arising out of this report.



6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 

6.1 N/A

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are none arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 That Members approve the minutes of the IMWP which are attached as an 

appendix to this report.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 The approval of IMWP minutes by Pensions Committee forms part of the 

governance arrangements of Merseyside Pension Fund. These 
arrangements were approved by Pensions Committee as part of the Fund’s 
Governance Statement at its meeting on 27th June 2011.

REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Wallach
Head of Pension Fund
telephone:  (0151) 242 1309
email:   peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

mailto:peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES
Exempt Appendix 1
Exempt Appendix 2 

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Minutes of all IMWP’s are brought to the 
subsequent Pensions Committee meeting. 



 Minutes of Investment Monitoring Working Party, 
17 September 2015

In attendance:

(Chair) Councillor Paul Doughty (WBC) Peter Wallach (Head of MPF)

Councillor Geoffrey Watt (WBC) Joe Blott (Strategic Director Transformation 
and Resources)

Councillor Cherry Povall (WBC) Leyland Otter (Senior Investment Manager)

Councillor Patrick Cleary (WBC) Greg Campbell (Investment Manager)

Councillor Adrian Jones (WBC) Susannah Friar (Property Manager)

Councillor Brian Kenny (WBC) Adil Manzoor (Tax Accountant)

John Raisin (Chair of Pension Board) Noel Mills (Independent Advisor)

Donna Ridland (Pension Board) Rohan Worrall (Independent Advisor)

Louis-Paul Hill (Aon Hewitt)

Emma Jones (PA to Head of Pension 
Fund)

Apologies were received from:

Councillor Ann McLachlan (WBC) Councillor Paulette Lappin 

Declarations of Interest

Councillor Paul Doughty declared an interest due to a relation being a beneficiary 
of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Councillor Geoffrey Watt declared an interest due to a relation being a 
beneficiary of Merseyside Pension Fund.



Minutes of Investment Monitoring Working Party, 
8 October 2015

In attendance:

Councillor Ann McLachlan (WBC)
(Vice Chair)

Peter Wallach (Head of MPF)

Councillor Geoffrey Watt (WBC) Joe Blott (Strategic Director Transformation 
and Resources)

Councillor Treena Johnson (WBC) Noel Mills (Independent Advisor)

Councillor Paulette Lappin (SC) Rohan Worrall (Independent Advisor)

Louis-Paul Hill (Aon Hewitt)

Emma Jones (PA to Head of Pension 
Fund)

Apologies were received from:

Councillor Paul Doughty (WBC) Councillor Brian Kenny (WBC)

Councillor Cherry Povall (WBC) Councillor George Davies (WBC)

Councillor John Fulham (SHC) Councillor Adrian Jones (WBC)

Declarations of Interest

Councillor Geoffrey Watt declared an interest due to a relation being a 
beneficiary of Merseyside Pension Fund.












	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes 28 Sep 2015

	3 LGPS UPDATE
	4 THE PENSIONS REGULATOR BREACHES POLICY
	Appendix

	5 POOLING CONSULTATION
	6 INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE
	7 GOVERNANCE POLICY
	Appendix

	8 RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT AND CLIMATE RISK
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	10 MONITORING - TRAINING, GIFTS & HOSPITALITY RETURNS
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	11 AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES
	12 IMWP MINUTES
	14 IMWP MINUTES EXEMPT APPENDICES
	Exempt appendix 2


